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Khomenko, Bernard V., MAcct, July 2004 Accounting

Dmdqpendent Extemid Audits o f Foreign Banking Organizations (FBOs) Operating in the
U.S.

Committee Chair; Dr. Terri Herron

The ptqw  b^ tns with an overview of the U.S. banking industry and its most recent 
trends, sudi as merging of many financial institutions and increasing the number of 
services offered by banks to its customers. Following is the analysis o f Fordgn Banking 
Organizations (FBOsX including Üidr distinctive characteristics, q)ecific business risks, 
legal enviromnent and advantages/disadvantages affecting FBO opérations. The next 
section (Hovides a detailed analysis o f external audits, including Ae discussion o f 
external audits' objectives, methods and structure. The last section presents the off- 
balance sheet activities and the issues considered in the off-balance sheet activities audit 
program. The external audit ptt^pam for the guarantees issued, a type o f off-balance 
sheetacfivity often conducted by FBOs, is presented in an appendix. For illustrative 
purposes, Ae financial statements ofDeutsdieBank, one of Ae largest FBOs working on 
AeU.S. financial markets are also presented in an rqrpendix

A number of secoixiary sources w «e used during the work on the poper, including the 
Examination Manual for U.S. Branches of FBOs, AICPA Professional Standards, AICPA 
Audit and Accounting Guide, and texti>ooks on auditing and bank management.
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1.0 m T R O D U cnoN  Arm o B m c n v E S  

Throughout the accounting program, auditing attracted the author’s attrition due 

to the analytical, logical and disciplined manner o f the field. Being interested in banking 

and finance and having come fiom a foreign country, this paper presented a perfect 

diance to combine the author’s interests in auditing and banking with his international 

background. This paper is an attonpt to gain additional knowledge in the field of 

auditing, through analyzing the work and operating environment of FBOs in the U.S. and 

methods applied by indq>endent auditws in auditing such organizations.

The paper has two main objectives; to research and become fiuniliar with auditing 

practices applied to the banking industry by independoit audhmrs and to better understand 

the operatii|g environment o f FBOs in the U.S. The first objective is achieved by 

discussing the general auditing issues as well as issues q)ecificrdly related to FBOs’ 

audits, suclÿ as their es^xMureto off-balance she^ activities and consideration of 

additional types of rides during audits. The second objective is adiieved through 

analyses ofl>anking industry and operational issues ̂ >ecific to FBOs, such as increasing 

supavision of their activities by r%ulatory agaicies.

The outcome of this research is th&FBO’s off-balance sheA activities partial audit 

program presented in Appendix A. Expwence gained th ro u ^  the research should 

familiarize |he author with the real-woiid auditing practices, assist in prqxaring for the 

Uniform Certified Public Accountant exam and provide knowledge usefiil in the future 

career of tl^  professional paper’s author. It is the author’s desire to make his paper easy 

to read and understandable for anyone with a general business background and to provide
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valuable infannation to anyone interested in the subject. A list of acronyms used 

throughout the paper is presented in Appendix B

2.0 FBOs* OPERATION» AND RECULATMIY ENVIRONMENT

2.1 FBOs’ OPERATIONS

Overview fttb c  Banking Industry

The banking sectw has been among the leadm  in embracing innovation and new 

technologies, with globalization and financial innovations being the main forces behind 

the changiog Ace of the banking sector. Consumera have a wide range of choices in 

banking - 1 |^  can go to their local or national bank, open an account with a brokerage 

firm, or even go on-line and bank with an internet-based bank that exists only in the 

cyber-wod^. All these financial institutions are offering a wide range of financial 

sovices to the consumers -  fixnn opwing clicking and saving accounts to offering 

credit card^to transferring and receivings funds anywhwe in the world.

Banking institutions play an important role in the economy. Two main types of 

banking ins|titutions are commercial banks and thrifts. Commercial banks represent the 

primary channel of the Federal Reserve monetary policy. Commercial banks conqxise 

the largest ^ u p  of depository institutions both in munbers and size of their assets. Their 

key functions are to accept dqposits (liabilities) and to make loans (assets). Commercial 

bank habilites usually include several types of nondeposit sources of funds, such as 

funds borrowed through the Federal Reserve System (FRS), while thdr loans include 

consumer, ^mmercial, and real estate loans. The Dumber o f commercial banks in the 

U. S. has been decreasing mostly due to mergers; between 1980 and 2001 the number o f 

commercial banks dropped fi"om 14,163 to 8,080. However, despite those mergers, there
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are still a laj%e number o f small banks, c^en called community banks, with assets under 

$500 million. These small banks currently account for about 90 perçoit o f the total 

numbo of l^anksand for some 20 percent of the total banking industry’s assets'. From 

these numbers we can conclude that the remaining ten pocent of the banks account for 

about 80 pcj^coit o f the banking industry’s assets. The latter group is most widely 

rqiresented by either regional or supor^onal banks. These types of commerdal banks 

engage in a^ areas of banking such as consumer, commercial and imhistrial lending. In 

order to finance their lending activities, r%ional and supoiegional banks have to access 

maikets for purchased fimds, such as the interbank and federal fiinds maiket. Some 

banks, such as Salomon Brothers, have even «eated sqiarate money center banks Wiich 

heavily rely on nondqiosit or borrowed sources of fiinds. Most commercial banks 

possess four main types of earning a s s ^  -  business loans* securities, mortgages, and 

consumer limans. Financing for assets comes fiom three main sources -  equity provided 

by ownCTS, dqw âts and borrowed funds.

Xhr^lnstitutiiM is comprise three different groups o f financial institutions -  

savings and loan associations, savings banks, and credit unions. Historically, savings and 

loan associations have concentrated mostly on residential mortgages, credit-unions have 

focused on consumer loans, and savings banks have bemi operated as more diversified 

savings an^ loan associations having residential mortgage assets and commercial loans, 

as wdl as corporate bonds and stocks.

Commercial banks in the U.S. are subject to monitoring and regulation by four 

different agencies -  the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation (FDIC), the Office of the 

Comptroller of theCurrency (OCC), foe FRS, and state bank r%ulators. The three main

* Saunders, 1997
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regulators fer thrifia are the Office of Thrifi. Supacvision, the Federal Insurance 

Corporation -  Savings Association Insurance Fund, aW the National Credit Union 

Administration which regulates the woric of credit unions. In addition, both commercial 

banks and thrifts are among the most regulated business estaWidunents, with most of 

commercial banks’ activities bdng regulated s^ara t^y  from thrifts. However, some 

laws and regulations apply to both types of banks. Major U.S. banking laws are 

presented in Table 1.

Table 1: Major UJS^Laws Regulating Operations o f Banks in the U.S.

U.S. Banking Law Year of 
Enactment Major Provisions

The McFadden Act 1927 Established state insurance regulation and 
barred interstate banking

The CHass-Steagall Act 1933 Separated commercial and investment 
banking

The Bank Holding 
Company Act 1956 Brought bank holding companies under 

fedmal supervision

International Banking 
Act 1978

Brought foreign banks within the federal 
regulatory framewoik. Required deposit 
insurance for branches o f foreign banks 
engaged in retail deposit taking in the U.S.

Depository Institutions 
Deregulation and 
Monetary Control Act

1980
Phased out interest ceiling on deposits, 
expanded thrift powers, and raised 
insurance coverage to $100,000

Federal Deposit 
Insurance Corporation 
Improvement Act

1991

Greatly increased the powers and authority 
of the FDIC. M*yor provisions 
recapitalized the Baidc Insurance Fund and 
allowed the FDIC to strengthen the fund by 
borrowing from the Treasury.

The Foreign Banks 
Supervision 
Enhancement Act

1991 Enhance federal r%uIatory authority over 
foreign banks in the U.S.

Riegel-Neal Interstate 
Banking Branching 
Efficiency Act

1994 Permitted interstate expansion

Gramm-Leach-Biley
Act 1999

Allowed financial holding companies to 
offer banking, securities, and insurance 
under one corporate roof and established 
sweeping consumer privacy protections.

Source: Koch and Vlacdonald, 2003
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FBOs* Overview

Globalization is the process caused by the gradual evolution of markets and 

institutions where geographic boundaries do not restrict financial transactions. One 

country’s economic policies affect the économies o f other countries, ami fimds flow 

fieely between countries because of efficient money and co ital markets and currency 

exchanges (the establishment of the European Community in 1992 represents a prime 

example), financial mariœts and institutions are becoming increasingly international in 

scope due to globalization, and the presence o f Foreign Banldng Organizations is the 

direct resul( of this. Over the last 28 years the presence of foreign banks in the U.S. 

increased from 3.8 percent of U.S. banking assets and 1.6 percent of deposits in 1973 to

20.2 percer# 4^U.S. banking assets and 17.4 percent o f deposits in 2001^.

Global banking involves both traditional commercial and investment banking 

products, Wth firreign banks offering products aiwiservices denominated in the FBOs’ 

domestic currencies and in U.S. dollars. Many global banks often follow diff^ent 

business strategies. Some U.S. banks, such as Citigroup, have aggressively located 

offices outside the U.S. and attempted to establish their brand with extorsive marketing 

efforts.

Many foreign banks have, in contrast, beor content to take silent participations in 

deals origir%#ed by U.S. banks, with little display of their involvement. Domestic 

borrowers that might object to tregotiating a credit agreement with a firreign bank are 

often unaw^e that the originating U.S. bank can la to  sell these loans to a firreign bank. 

Foreign banks, in addition, are octremely aggressive in underwriting Eurobonds and 

engaging in off-balance sheet activities, including M erest sw#ps, standby letters of credit,

’ Koch and Macdonald, 2003.
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and m unici^  bond guarantees. These activities provide FBOs with instant credibility 

and a foothold when negotiating with U.S. banks.

In 1973, U.S. offices of fbreige banks controlled 3.7 percent o f total loans and 7.6 

percent o f business loans within the U.S.; by 2001 these offices controlled 13.4 pwcent of 

total loans yid 26;4 p^cW  (^business loans^. The four largest FBO s operating in the 

U.S. are listed in Table 2.

Table 2: List of the Largest FBOs Operatiiig in the

FBO*s Name, Headquarter Home Country Assets ($ 
millions) as of 

12/31/02
HSBC Banks USA, Buffido, NY Great Britain 77,634
LaSaUe Banks NA, Chic%o, IL Holland 57,442
Standard Federal Bank NA, Troy, MI Holland 44,382
Union Bank of CA NA, San Francisco, CA Japan 35,591

Source; Source; Koch and Macdomdd, 2CK)3

HSBC Bank, owned by HSBC Holding in London, is the largest foreign bank 

operating in the U S with close to $80 billion in assets. ABN Amro, an Amsterdam- 

based holdipg company, owns both LaSalle Bank,. Chicago, and Standard Federal, Troy, 

MI. Together, Lasalle Bank and Standard Federal control almost $102 billion in assets. 

The foreignrowned banks operating in the U.S. operate primarily through their branches. 

Geographically speaking the most active foreign banks opaating on the west coast of the 

U. S. have been those headquartered in Japan and Taiwan. The most active foreign banks 

operating on the east coast and Midwest U.S. have been those headquartaed in western 

Europe and Hong Kong However, regardless of the region of their e^qpansion in the US, 

almost every medium and large FBO in the U.S. has an office in New York City (due to 

the city’s status as the world’s largest financial center).

' Koch and Macdonald, 2003.
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It (xxnes as no surprise that banks, both foreign and domestic, compete 

aggressively for consumers’ business. Fordgn banking organizations have had a long­

standing pr^ence in the United States. Their opaations encompass a wide variety of 

banking and nonbanking activities, through subsidiaries, branches, agencies. Edge Act 

CorporadoQS and representative ofiGces (see Table 3). W eed, FBOs can be found 

among the largest finandal holding conrpanies, sudi as the Taunus Corporation Wiich is 

a subsidiary o f Deutsche Bank AG. FBOs are most actively rq>resented primarily in the 

major U.S. cities where finance and international trade are most aggressively conducted.

Table 3: Five M ajor Formsiof Entiy by F o r e ^  Banks Into die U.S. Banldng

Type (rf FBO Characteristics

Subsidiary A fordgn bank’s subsidiaiy has its own capital and charter; 
opaates the same as any U.S. domestic bank; has access to retail 
and wholesale markets.

Branch A branch bank is a direct erpansion of the parent bank; reliant on 
its parent bank for capital support; normally, has access to both 
iwdiolesale and retail deposit and fimding maikets.

Agency An agency is a restrictive form o f entry; restricts access o f funds 
to those borrowed on the wholesale and money maikds; a special 
case o f an agency is a New York Agreement Company (has 
agoicy and limited investment banking functions).

Edge Act 
Corporation

An Edge Act Corporation is opmi to U.S. domestic banks since 
1919 and to foreign banks since 1978; specializes in international 
trade-related banking transactions or investments.

Representativ 
e Office

A representative office acts as a loan production office; generates 
loan business for its parent banks at home; the most limited 
organizational form for FBOs entering the United States.

Source: Koch and hfiicdoWd, 2003

Prior to entering the U.S. market, fordgn banks have to wdgh many pros and 

cons of such a decision. The rest o f this section concentrates on the economic advantages 

and disadv^itages focing FBOs operating in the U.S. Regulatory and compliance aspects 

of operations are discussed in the Section 2.0.
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There are major advantages to FBOs that could help in generating greater returns 

and better diversifying operations’ risk through opanng operations in the U.S: risk 

diversijScatfrxi, economies of scale, new product innovations, and avoidance of a corrupt 

and unfair r%ulatoiy environment First as with domestic geographic expansions, an 

FBO s activities ctwdd enhance its parent financial institution’s opportunities to diversify 

the risk o f earnings flows. Often, domestic earnings flow from financial services are 

strongly l in j^  to the state of that economy. Therefore, the less integrated the economies 

of the worid are, t k  greater potmtial for earnings diversification through international 

e^)ansion. Second, to the extent that economies of scale exist, by expanding its 

activities beyond domestic boundaries, a financial institution can potmtiaily lower its 

average operating costs.

Third, a financial institution can generate extra returns from new product 

innovation|sJd^ it can sell such services internationally rather that just domestically. For 

instance, complex financial innovations such as securitization, c ^ s , floors, and options, 

initially introduced in the United States, became known to foreign financial institutions 

through their FBOs opoating in the U.S. Subsequently, foreign financial institutions 

began to o i ^  such financial innovations in their home countries. Finally, domestic 

r%ulations such as activities restrictions and reserve requirements impose constraints or 

taxes on th^ operations of a financial institution. Seddngout low regulatory tax 

countries can allow businesses to iowo- their net r%ulatory burden and to increase their 

potential nqt {xofitabilrty. As shown in Section 2.2, the U.S. has a very restrictive 

regulatory environmeA Nevertheless, that environment makes the rule o f law fidr for d l 

businesses, encouraging and promoting healthy, Air conq)etition. One can conclude that
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in the instance of FBOs operating in the United States, foreign banking institutions could 

avoid a corrupt and unfair r^ulatory environment.

There are also several disadvantages of FBOs as well, such as information and 

monitoring costs, risk of nationalization or expropriation, and fixed costs. While global 

expansion ̂ ilows financial institutions to better diversify geogr^hic risk, the level of risk 

exposure in certain areas o f operations can potentially be high. Fordgn activities require 

masteiing q^xpertise in operating l%al, and conqdiance environments of other 

countries, Wiich can drive iq* compliance and professional nsdstance costs. Also, it 

requires translation and. transferring o f information between the parent financial 

institution and its FBOs, which could cause monitoring and information collection 

costs to soaf as well. For instance, d ifféren ts in the accounting prindples can create 

reporting and interpreting problems, hi addition, langu%e and cultural problems can 

impose fiirtj^  transaction costs on international activities.

A financial institution foces the political risk of nationalization and 

expropriation, of its investments and assets when it expaWs (^>erations into fordgn 

countries. However, in the United States, where rights of ownership are highly respected, 

such risk ismmimal. Nevertheless, as the expropriation of some alleged terrorists’ assets 

diows, under a certain level of political pressure, instances o f govonment nationalizatirai 

of foreign organizations’ assets in theU.S (including FBOs’ assetsX could occur. The 

fixed costs of establishing overseas operations may be extremely high. A bank fi-om a 

country wi^real-estate prices lower than in the U.S. foces a high cost of establishing a 

branch in the U.S, especially if a branch is in a city like New York. Such costs can be 

even higher if a bank would decide to buy a bank in the United States. These high fixed
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costs become a very important consideration for a foreign bank if th^e is uncertainty 

about the expected volume of business to be generated and, thus, revm ie flows from 

operations |n  the U.S. A good example of unrealized revenue expectation versus the high 

fixed costs of entry and the costs of maintaining a competitive position could be the 

failure of U.S. acquisitions to  realize expected profits following the 1986 “big bang” 

der%ulation in the United Kingdom^.

2.2 FBOs JDIUSDICIION AND SEGVIATIONS

FBO banking activities are conducted [nimarily through branches and agencies 

licensed by foe individual states and by the OCC, or to a lesser d%ree thr(xigh banks and 

special-purpose banking corporations chartered by the states and the Federal Reserve. 

Some of thq branches, agencies and special-purpose banking corporations are insured and 

theefore subject to the ovosight of the FDIC. FBO non-banking activities are 

authorized ^y theFedetal Reserve pursuant to the Banking Holding Company Act and 

the International Banking Act. Brandies of foreign banking organizations are licensed by 

the state bapking authoriti% or the OCC; in addition, certain grandfathered branches may 

be insured by the FDIC. Agencies are licensed by the state banking authorities. 

Separately, foe Board o f Governors del^ates certain of its supervisory and regulatory 

fimctions to the Resmve Banks and directs, coordinates, and reviews actions takmi by the 

Reserve Bapks As-a result, FBOs are subject to a number of state and federal statues, 

and their operations are supervised and regulated by both state and fed^al banking 

authorities.

“Saunders, 1997.
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The ImtermpWouml Banking Act

Prior to 1978, fordgn branches and agencies in the United States were licensed 

primarily at the state level, and issues regarding their entry, regulation, and oversight 

were almost totally confined to the state level. With the passage of the Intanational 

Banking A<^^BA) in 1978 and the Fordgn Bank Siq)ervision Enhancement Act 

(FBSEA) in 1991 (discussed later), federal regulators have drastically increased control 

ovw fordg^ banks in the United States. FBO operations were profoundly affected by 

both acts.

Before the passage of IB A  FBOs entering the U.S. with state Ucenses had certain 

competitive advantages and disadvantages relative to most domestic banks. On the one 

hand, being state-licensed mthies, they were not subject to tl»  Federal Reserve’s resove 

requirement^ Federal Reserve audits and exams, interstate branching restrictions, or 

restrictions on corporate securities undowriting activities (the Glass-Steagall Act). On 

the cAher hy d , they had no access to the Federal Reserve’s discount window, no direct 

access to Fedwire nor the fed funds market, and no access to FDIC déposât inmrance 

Inability to gain access to dqx>sit insurance effectively precluded FBOs firom the U.S. 

retail banking maricets. As a result, prior to 1978, foreign banks in the United States 

largely con^ntrated mostly on business or wholesale banking.

The unequal treatment of domestic and fordgn banks regarding federal re la tio n  

and lobbying by domestic banks r^arding the unfairness of this situation provided the 

force for Congress to pass the IBA in 1978. The fundamental regulatory philosophy 

underlying the IBA was one of national treatment, which means foreign banks should be 

regulated in the same feshion as domestic banks. As a result of this act, fordgn banks

11
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wo’e requiried to hold Federal Reserve-specified reserve requirements if  their worldwide 

assets exceeded $1 billion, were subject to Federal Reserve examinations, and were 

subject to tipe McFadden and Glass-Steagall Acts. With respect to the latter, an important 

grandfidher provision was inserted into the act that allowed foreign banks established in 

the U.S. priiw to 197& to keq* their interstate branches and securities-activity operations, 

which became illegal under the Glass-Steagall Act. That is, interstate and security 

activities restrictions were a{^lied only to new FBOs entered the U.S. afier 1978.

The passage o f the DBA accelerated the expansion of FBOs in the U.S. The DBA 

gave foreigp banks access to  the Federal Reserve’s discount window, Fedwire, and FDIC 

insurance. In particular, access to FDIC insurance allowed access to retail banking. For 

example, a year afier the passage of the DBA, foreign banks acquired four large U.S. 

banks (Crocker, National Bank of North America, Union Plantem, and Marine Midland)^ 

The Foreig|n Banks SwpervWon Emhmncemenf Act (FBSEA) of 1991 

After passage of the DBA the supovision and r%ulation of federal and state 

branches aqd agencies of fineign banks was largely the responsibility of the states and the 

OCC. The following three events conqwunded the concern about tlw weakness of the 

fedora! r^^i^atory oversight o f FBO opm tions and urged the Congress to act. The first 

event was the collapse o f the Bank o f Credit and Commerce International (BCCI), which 

had a highly complex international organizational structure based in the Middle East, the 

Cayman Islands and Luxembourg and had undisclosed owMrddp stakes in two large 

U.S. banks. BCCI was not subject to any consolidated supervision by a home country 

r^ulator; this quickly became apparent afio- its coll2q>se, W%n massive fraud, insider 

lending abuses, and money-lmmdering operations were discovered. The second event

* Saundos. 1997.
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was the issuance of more that $1 billion in unauthorized letters of credit to Saddam 

Hussein’s Iraq by the Atlanta %ency o f the Italian bank, Banca Nazionale del Lavoro. 

The third qvent was the unauthorized taking, of deposits by the U.S. representative office 

o f the Gredc National Mortgage Bank of New York.

Theseevents-andrelatedconcems led to the passage o f the Foreign Bank 

Supervision Enhancement Act o f 1991. The act had five main features that have 

significantly enhanced the powers of federal regulators over foreign banks in thé United 

States. These feahires are summarized in Table 4 and tndude r^ulation over mtry, 

closure, examination, deposit taking,, and activity powers. It is important to note that 

Table 4: Five Regulatory Features of the FBSEA of 1991

Regulatory
Feature
Name

Description

Entry The Fed’s {q>proval is needed to establish a subsidiary, branch, 
agency, or representative office in the United States; it applies to 
both a new entry or an entry by acquisition; two mandatory 
approvals have to be met:

• the foreign bank must be subject to comprehensive 
supervision on a consolidated basis by a home country 
regulator

• that regulator must furnish all the information needed by 
the Federal Reserve to evaluate the application.

Both standards are aimed at eliminating the lack of disclosure and 
supervision associated with BCCI’s fidlure.

Closure The act gives the Federal Reserve pouw  to close a foreign bank if 
its home country supervision is inadequate, it has violated U.S. 
laws, or it is engaged in unsound and unsafe banking practices.

Examination The Federal Reserve has the power to examine each office o f a 
foreign bank, including its representative offices; each branch or 
agmcy has to be examined at least once a year.

Deposit
t a l ^

Only foreign subsidiaries with access to FDIC insurance can take 
retail deposits under $100,000; it rolls back the provision of the 
IBA that gave foreign branches and %encies access to FDIC.

Activity
powers

As of 12/19/92 state-licensed branches and agencies o f foreign 
banks could not engage in any activity not permitted for domestic 
banks.

Source: Sapnders, 1997
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aloi% with the increased r%ulatwy and supervisory role o f the Federal Resave, the 

FBSEA established uniform federal standards for entry and expansion o f fordgn banks in 

the U.S. D j^ ite  strict rules and regulations the U.S. banking maiket did not become less 

attractive to the foreign banks.

Strength Qf Support Assessment

As a result of the increased supervisory burden over foreign banking institutions 

in the U.S., Ae W eral and state r%ulatoiy authorities had to come up with a 

standardized framework for evaluatii% and assimilating significant financial and 

mam^erial information related to  individual FBO’s operations. The two-component 

strength-of-support assessment (SOSA) program provided regulatory agencies with such 

capabilities, The SOSA rating of individual FBOs provides information to supervisory 

agencies that is used in detamining the impropriate arperdsory initiatives, such as the 

scope and ^equency o f examinations. The assessment also provides a basis for more 

efficient utilization o f supervisory resources.

Pevelopin|B>the SOSA

The SOSA is developed annually through a process tfiat involves all U. S. 

supervisors with licensing chartering or examining responsibilities o v a  the FBO’s 

operations in the U.S. The process includes an analysis o f available information on the 

financial condition o f the FBO within the context of four items: (1) the home country 

financial system, (2) the banking supervisory system, (3) the record of the authorities in 

preventing fnr successfully dealing with banking system problems, and (4) transfer risk 

considerations, which focus on the FBO’s capacity to obtain the sufficient amount of 

foreign currency required to service its aoss-borda operations. For some FBOs, transfer
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risk increased due to heavy debt servicii^ or o th»  financial restraints related to

the home country regulations, which ofim lead to rechange controls and hard currency 

restrictions in  the-home country. Often such information can be con^iled through 

discussions with the U.S. and head office management o f the FBOs as wdl as the home 

country supecvisor(s).

Relevant information obtained during ftœ SOSA devdopment process is 

transm itted^ the Federal Reserve, which assumes responsibility for organizing and 

maintaining a database of this informatioa This database is available to all o f the rdevant 

U.S. bankirjg siyetvisoiy agencies. To ensure that the database cmitain&the most current 

information, all rdevant information is collected and updated on a continuing basis. The 

development o f th e ^ S A  results^in two components; a supervisory rating and 

conq)liance evaluation.

SOSA - Firpt Component

The first component of the SOSA addresses whetho* any factors relating to the 

ability o f tl^  FBO to meet its U.S. obligations warrant special monitoring. Thi&results in 

a rating that reflects the overall financial viability o f the FBO, as well as several ext^nal 

factors sudjt aa the d%ree of supervision the FBO recdves fî om its home country 

supervisor. Factors considwed in assessing the first compotMnt include a review of the 

FBO’s firmpdal condition and prospects, the system of sin>ervision in the FBO’s home 

country, the record o f home country govonment support of the banking system or other 

sources of ypport o f the FBO, and any transfer risk concans. All rdevant foctors are 

weighed and evaluated in detmnining the rating.
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Deteraûmng whether aa individual FBO has the int^nai or external resoin'ces to 

provide necessary financial or managerial aipport to its U.S. operations depends upon its 

financial condition, operating record, and general outlook. A  good financial condition 

combined with capable management is genoally sufficient to ensure that support. 

Howevw, tjie degree of certainty regarding the ability o f an FBO to provide any 

necessary financial support may be limited by weaknesses in its home country 

supervisory system or a s%nificant degree o f transfer risk associated with its major 

operations. These two Actors also may influence the home country’s record of support 

for its financial institutions. All assessment Actors are considered as a  vAole in the 

rating. The five SOSA ratings and the associated indicators are fw^eswted in Table 5 and 

range fi*om A (bestXto E (worst).

SOSA -  Second Component

The second componem of the SOSA, which is utilized on an as-needed basis, 

identifies whether there are any Actors that raise questions about the ability of the FBO 

to maintain adequate internal controls and compliance procedures at its U.S. ofiQces, 

irrespective of the overall financial condition of the FBO Factors considered in rqrplying 

the second (component of the SOSA include the FBO’s managerial and operational 

record, changes in opoation such as a reçoit merger or <^er significant expansion, or 

reported coptrol problems at non-U.S. operations posing a potential risk to the U.S. 

operations. The purpose of this component is to indicate whether any concerns over the 

above mentioned procedures exist, adâerm ination that is largely judgmental in nature 

and not readily quantifiable.
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Table S: F%ve Levels-of Assessment fm the First Componmit Indicators of the SOSA

Rating Supervisory Assessment Indicators
Assessment 
of A

•  strong financial profile by both home country peer and international 
standards

• more than ample access to U.S. dollar fimding
• one of the two highest market or investment ratings and categories
•  supervision by the home country supervisory agency is conducted 

on a conq)rehensive basis, covering the worldwide operations of the 
FBO

• the home country has a good record of supervising financial 
institutions and dealing with problem institutions.

Assessment
ofB

•  the financial profile and outlook pose a low risk that the FBO will 
be unable to support its U.S. operations

• has an investment grade or equivalent
•  financial factors are not as strong as EBOs with an A assessment
• the home country has a good recwd for dealing with problems in 

the local financial system
• transfer risk fectors consistent with FBOs with an assessment of A

Assessment
ofC

•  the home country has demonstrated an ability and vdllingness to 
support the FBO or similar financial institutions (even if FBO 
currently doesn’t meet all financial standards)

•  lack of an investment grade rating
•  any otho- fectors that are considered less than adequate by 

intonational standards, without posing significant concerns about 
the ability of the organization to honor its U.S. liabilities.

Assessment
ofD

•  significant financial or supervisory weaknesses are apparent
•  imposition of asset maintenance requirements on the U.S. branches 

and agencies should be consid^ed
•  FBO may be expected to continue as a going concern due primarily 

to govanment support, ownership, or otho' significant fectors
• resource constraints, transfer risk considantions, opaating 

structure, or o tha  fectors may place important limitations on that 
support

•  the financial profile, may imply a higha assessment, but home 
country supervision is deemed to be substantially or wholly 
deficient, or th ae  are âgnificant transfer risk concerns.

Assessment
ofE

•  serious deficient financial profile
•  poor opaating practices
•  absence of any sufficient supavisory oversight and support
• th ae  is a strong possibility that the FBO will be unable to honor its 

U.S. obligations in the n ea  fijture
•  considered to present a hazard to U.S. financial markas.

Source; Federal Reserve System, 1997
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iïenejnl Supervisory Iinplicatioiu

As discussed earlier, one of the principal goals o f the SOSA is to ideittify those 

FBOs that fiay pose risks to their U.S. operations or to U.S. financial markets due to 

financial, operational, or other concerns at the FBO as a v ^ le . The SOSA serves to 

categorize ^  FBOs conducting banking operations in the United States and to highlight 

those FBOs warrantii% high^ levels of supervisory attention with re^>ect to thdr U.S. 

operations. ,An FBO’s SOSA istakei into consideration by supervisory agencies in 

setting the examination plan for the FBO’s U.S. operations. The examination plan 

considers apy issues raised in the assessment process and addresses them accordingly.

Recommended supervisory follow-up actions depend on the outcome of the 

SOSA procfsss. A or B  Assessments—Normally, any supervisory follow-iq> action for 

FBOs with a SOSA rating of A or B is q>plied only if  warranted by the condition of the 

U.S. o peratj^s Supervisory measures generally would not relate to liquidation 

concerns. As such, asset maintenance usually would not be required for branches and 

agencies of/dieseFBOs; however, supervisory actions would be undertaken, if necessary, 

to resolve any significant deficiencies in risk management, operations and irdanal 

controls, or compliance at any of the U. S. offices. C Assessment—The FBO’s SOSA is 

reviewed at least annually. The due to/due fi’om positions, which are represented by 

deposits by other banks (due to) or deposits in other banks (due firom), that are used to 

facilitate the transfer of funds among banks are closely nK>nitored and any substantial due 

fi*om positions are fiilly analyzed for risk implications. If warranted by the condition of 

the combined U.S. operations or the asset quality at the U.S. offices of such an FBO, 

asset maintenance would be considered for branches and agencies, aM U.S. subsidiary
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banks cod(|fl»e required to operat&atcqutal levels abovethe minima. D Assessment— 

Thae is a strong presumption of asset maintenance for branches and agencies o f an FBO 

in this category, and U.S. bank subsidiaries should operate at strong capital levels. The 

FBO is more closely monitored and its assessment may be subject to review at least semi­

annually. E Assessment— The FBO will be placed under continuous surveillance and 

reporting as warranted. Tomination procee&ngs for the U.S. operations of such an EBO 

will be conj^ered under applicable regulatory guidelines.

All SOSA results are for internal supervisory use cmly and are not disclosed to the 

general public, the FBO s management,^ or the hcane country r%ulatws. If  deemed 

appropiate, any specific concerns raised through the assessment process, rather than the 

assessment jtselC will be communicated directly to the FBO s management and home 

country regulators, particularly if those concerns lead to supervisory follow-up action 

with regard to thoFBO’s U.S. operations.

This section presented an overview o f the banki% industry by focuâng on its 

business functions, operating environment and role in the economy. The discussion 

focused on the FBOs rede in American and global economies. FBO operations 

encompass wide variety of banking ami non-banking activities and also serve as links 

among integrated global economies. Services are usually provided through established 

subsidiaries, branches and rqiresentative offices. The section explained vhy the foreign 

ownership of FBOs makes them unique players in the market and exposes them to 

potentially p t  greate industry risks than domestic financial institutions.

The second part of this section addressed FBOs’ regulations and jurisdiction.

Work o f banking institutions in the U.S. is heavily regulated, especially foreign-band
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banks like Many branches of the federal government, along with state regulating 

authorities, take special int^est in FBOs* work in order to insure l% itim «y and 

soundness <yf their operations. The section is concluded by discussion o f the strength-or- 

suppoit assessment that was developed by federal regulating autlmrities in order to better 

coordinate (^d enhance the supervision o f the U.S. activities o f FBOs.

3.0 EXTERNAL AUDITS 

Thanks to globalization we cannot imagine economic progress being restricted by

the borders of a single country or a  continent International banking facilitates further

economic progress and int^ration withcmt bwders. FBOs play a vital role in promoting

such progress and intégration However, such prepress is impossible without some

system of r%ulations. While conducting an extensive supervision o f FBOs operations,

the U.S. grwwunent entrusts and allows the market to conduct its own supervision of

FBOs operations. Most often independent auditors carry-out the wiU o f the market in

evaluating ̂  work of FBOs. Such audits are complicated by the unique international

nature of the FBO s origin. The nect section provides an oveview of the external audits

and other is^tes relevant to such audits o f FBOs.

3.1 INTRODUCTION TO EXTERNAL AUDITING

Generally ̂ c e p te d  Auditing Standards

Many U.S. branches and agencies o f FBOs are required by state law or the head 

ofl5ce to have independent audits performed periodically. For insured depository 

institutions, Fedaal Dqx)sit Insurance Corporation Improvement Act (FDICIA) of 1991 

requires annual indqtendent audits for all FDIC insured banks and insured branches that 

have total assets in excess o f $500 million. Indepardent audits enhance the ^obabilrty 

that financi^ statements and reports to regulatory authorities and other financial
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statonent u^ers will be accurate and help detect conditions that could adversely affect 

either banking organizations or the public. The independent audit process may also 

subject the ^ em a l controls and the accounting policies, procedures, and records of each 

banking organiz^on to periodic review. External auditors frequently conduct financial 

audits and 9^rtain other procedures and services. In the case o f U.S. financial audits, 

these must be conducted by Certified Public Accountants (CPAs) in conformance with 

Generally i^xqrted  Auditing Standards (GAAS). During an audit, the auditor Uses 

particular and specialized actions, called audit procedures, to <*tain evidence in a specific 

audit engagement While the nature, timing, and extent of procedures is largely left up to 

the auditor’s judgment, much of what an auditor does is guided by GAAS.

Audh standards are issued and codified (AU = Audit Standards) by the American 

Institute of CPAs (AICPA). They w«-e first written as a short statement of 10 standards, 

classified a | general standards (relate to the personal integrity and professional 

qualifications of auditors), fieldwork standards (specify quality criteria for conducting an 

audit), andrqx)riing standards (guide issuance o f an audit report). Audit standards are 

audit quality guides that remain the same in any kind of audit. The 10 GAAS standards 

are present^ in Table 6. This s ^ io n  and the next section will discuss select audit 

standards and audit procedures most rele^mnt to the audit of FBOs (scope of the paper 

precludes a con^lete discussion of all audit standards and procedures).

The objective of an audit o f financial statements is to express an opinion on 

whether an entity ’s financial statements present fairly, in all material respKts, its 

financial position, the results of its operations, and its cash flows in conformity with 

Gaierally Accepted Accounting Principles (GAAP). To accomplish that objective, the
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Table 6: AICPA Geoeralfy Accepted Amlitiiig Standards
Standard Type Standard Element
General Standards • Competence

• Independrace
• Due Professional Care

Field Work Standards • Planning and Supervision
• Internal Control
• Sufficient, Competent 

Evidential Matter
Reporting Standards •  GAAP

• Consistency
• Informative Disclosure
•  Opinion and Degree of 

Responsibility
Source: AICPA 2003a, AU 150 

auditor assesses the risk that the financial statements contain material misstatements, and

then the auditor plans and performs audit procedures to provide reasonable assurance that

the financi^ statements are free of material misstatements. The “opinion” is contained in

the auditor’s report. The auditor’s opinion can be one of four types, as follows®:

o Unqunldied opinion—sometimes referred to as a “clean opinion,” is the most

common type of opinion. This type states that the financial statements are

‘ ‘presented Airly’ ’ in conformity with GAAP, and that the necessary audit work

was done. This report is often referred to as the standard audit report and may

include additional e?q>lanatory language regarding particular issues.

o Qualified opinion—indicates that financial statements are presented Airly in all

material re^)ects “ except for” the effects o f a particular matter. Such matters

may include the inability to eramine sufficient evidential matter, récrierions on

the scope oC audit wwk, or material departures frwn GAAP in preparing a portion

of the financial statements.

’ AICPA 20Q3a, AU 508.
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o Adversf «piaUm—concludes that the financial statements taken as a whole are 

not presented fairly or are in “ significant nonconformance with U.S. GAAP.” 

o DiscW yer—expresses no opinion on the financial statements. CPAs may issue a 

disclaimer when they cannot express an opinion on the financial statements as a 

whole. Tips disclaimer is intended to indicate that the CPA is not assuming any 

responsibility for these statements. Disclaimers may also be issued when auditors 

have concluded that the scope of their work has been significantly restricted.

The auditor may generate other reports which typically include:

o A letter to the company’s management and, if the company is public, the audit 

committee in which the auditor confidentially presents detailed findings and 

recommendations to management regarding the company’s internal controls, 

o Reports from the auditor to regulators during the audit period.

Audit Risk Model

The auditor is required to design the audit to provide reasonable assurance of 

detecting n ^ en a l errors and frauds^ in the financial statements. However, it is not 

practical or feasible for auditors to examine ICK) percent of transactions making up the 

financial stftements. The overall risk that the auditor would give an inappropriate 

opinion on financial statements is called an audit risk. The worst appearance of such 

risk is givii% an unqualified-opinion on financial statements that are misleading because 

of material misstatements the auditor fiiiled to discover. Audit risk contains three major 

component^ -  inhereut risk, control riskr and detection risk  Inherent risk is the 

probability that material errors or fiauds have occurred in transactions entwing the

’ AICPA 20Q3a, AU 316.
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accounting system used to develop financial statements’. Control risk is the probability 

that the client’s internal control activities will fail to detect material misstatements, 

provided aqy enter the accounting system in the first place^. Detection risk is the 

probability that audit procedures will fitil to produce evidence of material misstatenœnt, 

provided a%r have entered the accounting system in the first place and have not been 

d^ected and corrected by the clieit’s contrd activities'^.

The fer^oing con^nents o f audit nsk can be e?q>ressed in a model that assumes 

that eadi of the dements is indqwndent:

Audit Risft (AR) = Inherent Risk (IR) x  Control Risk (CR) x Detection Risk p)R ). 

This equation describes the way the AR model is used in practice. AR is a target or goal 

and is base(f on professional judgment. IR, CR and DR are estimates based on a 

combination of professional judgment and evidence. IR and CR are not controllable by 

the auditor jbut are evaluated and measured. DR is controllable by the auditor and is 

inversely related to IR and CR Afiier assessing IR and CR and siq)porting the assessment 

with evidence, DR is then derived so that AR is at an acceptably low level. It is 

important to remember that the uidit risk model is only a conceptual tool in the audit and 

represents more of a way to think about audit risks than a way to calculate them.

3,2 GENERAL AUDITING CONSIDERATIONS

PricMP to and during the engagement multiple areas of professional work should be 

considered by the independent auditor. This areas are presented in the Dlustratiom I.

* AICPA 2003a, AU350,312.
'  AICPA 200% Air350,317. 
10 AIO>A 2003a, AU 350,312.
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Ulustration 1: Flowchart of General Auditing Considerations**

Scope of Sovices

Planning the Engagement

Developing an Overall Audit Plan

External Auditor’s Opinion

Compliance With Laws 
and Regulations

Other Reports and 
Engagements

Knowledge o f the 
Client’s Business

Internal
Control

Analytical
Procedures

Other Concerns 
and Considérations

The balance of this section will discuss each of the stages outlined in the flowchart, both 

in general and in an FBO context.

Scope of Services

The scope of services rendered by the auditor may vary significantly and gener­

ally depends on the types of reports to be issued as a result of the engagement. The goal 

of this section is to desoibe the scope of services applicable to an audit of an FBO.

Before starting the engagement, the extànal auditor should establish an 

understanding with the financial institution's management regarding the scope o f services

" AICPA 2900.
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tobeperfixrm edandtherqxxtstobeissued. ITdealing with a  public conq>any, this 

understating is to be established with the public conqxmy's audit committee. Such an 

understanding reduces the risk that either the auditor or the client may misinterpret the 

needs or ejq)ectationsofthe other party. It should be documented in the workpapers, 

preferably through a written communication m th the client. Standard auditor-client 

communication should include the following elements; 

o the objectives o f tte  engagement 

o management's reqxmsibilitie^ 

o the auditw's reqwnsibilities, and 

o limitations o f the engagement."

The best way to establish a solid understamling and to avoid future pnfolems 

related to miscommunication is through an engagement lett«" produced by the auditor and 

signed by either the conqxmy’s management or dm audit committee. Such letter 

includes, among other things, the scope of the audit, tlm pmiod o f time to be covered by 

the audit, and the rqxxts expected to be rendered. In many cases, the highlights of these 

matters will be summarized in the body o f the letter with greater detail bmng provided in 

schedules or iqrpendices to the letter. Procedures may be specific by audit area. In 

addition, ifthereareany limitations on the s c c ^  of the audit, the letter may specify any 

audith% procedures that are to be omitted, such as confirmation of loans or deposits, if 

the auditor is expected to render an ofxnion on the branch’s finandal s ta ^ e n ts .

As in any o th*  audit engagement, i ^ n  dealing with an FBO, t k  auditw should 

obtain a clear knowledge of who the appropriate parfy is inside o f the FBO to establish

12 AICPA, 2003a. AU 310.
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and communicate such understanding. Before enactment o f the Sarbanea-Qxley Act, the 

auditor most often had to submit an engagement letter to the FBO s main U.S. branch or 

its head office abroad before commencing his or her work. Now, rWren dealing with the 

publicly traded FBO, such as Deautsche Bank,” the auditor must ctmsider proviaons o f 

Sec. 301 o f the Sarbanes-Oxley Act and establish communications only with the FBOs 

audit committee. Fw audits o f iKm-public FBOs, however, the auditor can still use the 

old scheme for estifolishmg client-auditor communications. If the external auditor 

believes an understanding with the climxt has not been establi^ed, he or she should 

decline to accept or perform the engagement.

Hanning the Engi^anait

The first standard of field work requires that audit work be adequatdy planned 

and that assistants, if any, be propaly supervised^^. The auditor should develop 

procedures for audit planning, prqpanng a written audit program, obtaining knowledge of 

the entity's business, and developing an ovorall strategy for the conduct and scope o f the 

audit. The auditor should recr^nize that the nature, timing, and extent of plarming vary 

with the size and complexity o f the entity whose financial statements are being audited, 

as well as with the auditor’s experience with the entity and knowledge o f the entity's 

business.

Knowledge of the CK«»t*s Business

The auditor urxlertakmg audits o f financial statements o f an FBO should possess 

sufficient knowledge of matters that affect such institution, irwluding applicable 

regulatory matters, fti the plarming stage, the auditor o thers in-dqpth information about

"AICPA, 2003a, AU 311.

27

Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner. Further reproduction prohibited without permission.



the FBO operations and structure. Such information should provide the auditor with a 

solid understanding o f the financial institution’s areas o f operations which are critical to 

the audit, such as internal controls mechanisms, (^-balance dreet activities, and related- 

party transactions. These topics are esqrlored in more details below.

In addition to general knoWedge o f the industry, the auditor should have 

knowledge of matters that are unique to the entity whose finaiunal statements are being 

audited. This knowledge should be sufficient to provide an understanding o f events, 

transactirms, and practices tiiat may have a tignificant effect on the institution's financial 

statements. For public conqwrnies, the indqrendent accountant should also <*tain an 

understanding o f the operatir% s%ments o f the business, as defined by Financial 

Accounting Standard (FAS) No. 131. With regards to FBOs, such matters include: 

o regulatory m attos applicable to FBOs, 

o operatirms risks unique to FBOs, such as transfer risk 

o management stra t^es, 

o organizational structure, 

o product lines and sevices, 

o crqrital structure, 

o locations, and 

o otha- o p a ^ n g  characteristics.

Sudi knowledge o f an FBO s business could be obtained th ro u^  the auditor’s 

past audits with the institution, discussions with predecessor auditws, meetings with 

institution personnel and documents such as the FBO s charta* and bylaws, minutes of 

meetings of the board of directors and audit committee, prior paiod financial statements.
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management and internal rqwrts, etc.

While learning about the FBO’s operations* the auditor shmild be particularly 

concerned about determining the mdstence o f rdated party relationships, gaining 

suffîdent kno^edge about sudi parties and transactions with them^ .̂ Related parties are 

defined as:

a. Affiliates o f the institution (a party that, directly or imlirectly th ro u ^  one or more 

intermediaries, controls, is controlled by, or is under common contnd with an 

institution);

b. Investments in entities that are accounted for by the institution using the equity 

method;

c. Trusts for the benefit of employees, such as pension and profit-sharing trusts, that 

are managed by or are under the trusteedtip o f management o f t k  institution;

d. Principal owners o f the institution;

e. Nfonagement o f the institution;

f  M embm of the immediate fiunilies of the principal owners and managemmrt;

g. Other parties with which the institution may deal if one party controls or can 

significantly influence the management or operating policies o f the other to an 

extent that one of the transacting parties might be prevented from fully pursuing 

its own separate interests.

One party’s control or influence over other party’s management decisions or operating 

policies is decisive criterion in characterizing parties as related. Such knowledge is

‘'‘AICPA, 2003a, AU 334.
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essential in ̂ e  audit due to the international nature o f FBOs, the likelihood of 

transactions being conducted with related parties located abroad, and the relative ease of 

concealing |he existence of related parties Also, discrepancies in defining related parties 

can exist between the U.S. GAAS and the FBO’s home country auditing standards.

Amcmg other procedures used to identify related parties and obtain knowledge 

about them, in the FBO’s audit the auditor should consida*;

a. Evaluating the conqxmy’s procedures for identifying and properly accounting for 

related party transactions;

b. Requesting from iq>propriate management posonnel (from the main U.S. branch 

or from the FBO’s headquarter) the names o f all related parties and inquire 

whether tk re  were any transactions with these parties during the period;

c. Reviewing the FBO’s filings with the Securities and Exchange Commission 

(SEC) and otha^ regulatory agencies, both within U.S. aixi in the FBO’s home 

country;

d. Reviewing closely held companies’ stockholders listings to identify principal 

stockholders;

e. Inquiring of prior auditors or auditors conducting the audit of the FBO s 

headquarter in its home-country about any known related parties;

f. Reviewing material investment transactions during the period under audit to 

determine whether the nature and extent o f investments during the period create 

related parties.

In auditing related party transactions that are identified during the course of the
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audit, the auditor should be aware that the substance o f a particular transaction could be 

significantly dififorent firom its form and that financial statements should recognize the 

substance of particular transactions rather than merely their l%al form.

Internal Control

By the nature o f their business, financial institutions possess assets Wuch are 

more n ^ tia b le  and liquid than those o f most o tlw  commercial enterprises, ^ c h  

subjects them to a greate risk o f loss, misiqppropriation and theft o f those assets. As a 

result, the efiTectiveness o f internal control is a significant audit consideration. The 

importance of assessing internal controls has been increased by the Saibanes-Oxl^ Act. 

As outlined in the “Corporate Reqwnsibility for Financial Reports” section^* of the Act, 

public company management in their rqwrts filed with SEC shmild disclose (1) all 

“significant deficiencies” in the design or operation of internal controls which could 

adversely affect the company’s ability to record, process, sununariz^ and report financial 

data and (2) any “material weaknesses” in internal controls. The signing officer must 

indicate in the repwt ̂ le ther or not there w oe significant changes in internal controls or 

in oftifflr ftictors that could significantly affect internal controls. Sudi a report by the 

company’s management becomes a valuable source o f information on internal controls 

for the auditor.

In addition, as stated in the “Management Assessment o f Internal Contrds” 

section of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act'^, management o f a public conqiany should issue a 

rqiort of their assessment o f the company’s internal controls; it also (foligates auditors.

Sarbanes-Qxlqr Act, Sectkm 302,2002. 
Saibanes-Oxky Act, Secticm 404,2002.
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when issuing their audit report, to evaluate the audited company’s internal controls ami to 

issue a rqpoit about their internal control evaluation findings.

While companies subject to the Sarbanes-Oxley Act must have an expanded 

internal control examination, non-public companies do not have a similar requirement. In 

all audits, however, the auditor is required to obtain an understanding o f each o f the five 

conqwnmits of internal control. Such an understanding is obtained by performing 

procedures to follow t k  design of controls relevant to financial statements and 

they have been placed in operation. The five components o f internal control are: 

o the control environment, 

o risk assessment, 

o control activities, 

o information and communication, and 

o monitoring.'^

The applicability and inqwrtance of specific components of internal control 

dmuld be considaed in the context of (1) the FBO’s size, (2) its (xganizational 

characteristics, (3) the nature of its business* (4) the diversity ami conq>lexity o f its 

operations, and (5) its applicable Iqgal and r^ulatory requirements.

Any FBO operating in the U.S. is erq)ected to have a fully effective system of 

internal controls similar to that required o f U.S. banks. The auditor should consider the 

internal controls implemented not only by the audited FBO’s branch, but also those 

implemented by an FBO’s headquarter and all other branches. One way to obtain such 

knowledge is through a review of established internal control policies presented in a

”  AICPA 2003a, AU 319.
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written policies document. The auditor could also consido* testing such policies 

enqployed by the FBO’s o th^ branches and a headquarter, if necessary.

Analytical ^Procedures

Auditing standards require the use o f analytical procedures in both the planning 

and review ptages of financial statements audits^^. The objective of analytical procedures 

is to identify unusual transactions aM events and amounts, ratios, and trends that naight 

indicate maf^orsthat have financial statement and audit planning ramifications.

Analytical procedures involve the conq)arison o f recorded amounts or ratios developed 

from recorded amounts with «qpectationa developed by the auditor. For planning 

purposes, analytical procedures focus on;

o enhancing the independent accountant's understanding of the institution's 

business, transactions, and events that have occurred since the last financial 

statement audit, and

o identifying areas that may present ^>ecific risks relevant to the financial statenent 

audit.

Analytical procedures used in planning the audit generally use data aggregated at 

a high level. The procedures may consist of reviewing changes in account balances fiom 

the prior year to the current year (horizontal) and analyang the rdationship amongst 

financial stîjtement elements (vertical). Alternatively, the procedures may involve an 

extensive analysis of quarterly financial statm ents, ratios, statistics, and budgeted 

amounts, inpluding their relationship to performance of the industry as a whole. In either 

case, the analytical procedures, combined with the independent accountant's knowledge 

of the business, serve as a basis for additional inquiries and effective planning. The

AICPA 2003a, AU 329.
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nature, extept, and timing of the |»^ocedures, which are based on the independent 

accountant's judgment, may vary widely dq>ending on the size and complexity o f the 

institution.

Ratios, opoating statistics, and other analytical information that may be useful in 

assessing an FBO s position relative to other similar institutions and industry norms, as 

well as in identifying unusual relationships amongst data about the institution itself are 

graerally readily available fixunrqwits published by r^ulatory agencies such aa the 

FDIC. Such ratios could also be developed by the auditors or by the con^wmy's 

managemeij^. A number of ratios that may be useM  in applying analytical review 

procedures of FBO’s financial statements are presented in Table 7.

Table 7: Ratios for Anafyticai Procédures Used in  Audits of Banks

Ratio Measures

Investments/Total Assets Mix of earning assets

Loans/Total Assets Mix of earnings assets

Investments (by type)/Total Investments Composition of investment portfolio

Loans/Deposits Funding sources for the loan base

Allowance for Loans Losses/Total Loans Loans portfolio credit risk coverage

Loan Losses Recoveries/Prior-Year Write- 

Offs

Write-off policy and recovery 

experience

Net Income/Average Total Assets Retum-on-assets (RCA)

Net Income/Average Capital Retum-on-equity (ROE)

Capital ratios Financial strength

Source: AICTA 1997

O ther Cou||;enis and Considerations

Many FBOs’ branches are scattered internationally. As a result, the auditor would 

have to limjt {diysical observation of internal control procedures or any other types of on­

site inspection and place more reliance on the analytical procedures (as discussed earlio*)
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and substætfîve testing, such as transactions’ recalculation, confirmation by letter, verbal 

inquiry, examination and scanning o f documents. The auditor shmild also consido' using 

the wwk of other indq>endent auditors to perform some parts o f the audit, such as 

internal control testing in the FBO’s branches located abroad In some skuations, mostly 

due to the peculiar and complicated types of transactions performed by FBOs, such as 

off-balance sheet activities, the auditor might require help o f a specialist in understanding 

transaction^ and developing prope* audit procedures. Brfore using the work of an 

extenal specialist, the auditor is required to evaluate the professional qualifications of the 

specialist ainl whether they match the type of work being performed. The auditor should 

also undestand the nature and purpose of the specialist’s work.

Financial institutions often use service organizations to process daily transactions. 

Since most FBOs lack ftiU-service comprehensive support operations in the U.S. ami 

have relatively limited office staff, they are forced to extensively use service 

organizations. Exanq>les include using a currency-broker in conducting transactions with 

home-coun#y clients and exchanging large sums of currencies. When the FBO uses a 

service organization, transactions that affect the FBO’s financial statements are subject to 

controls th ^  are in part physically and operationally separate from the institution. The 

significance of the internal controls of the service organization to those of the FBO vary, 

depending qm the nature and materiality o f the services provided. The auditor should 

consider the effect of a service organization on the client’s int^nal control and the 

availability of audit evidence*^.

‘’ AICPA, 2003a, AU 324.
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Considérât!^ o f Fraud

The indq)endent auditor is required to assess the risk o f naaterial misstatement 

due to fraud and consider and document that assessment in designing the audit 

procedures to be performed. In making this assessment, the auditor should consider fraud 

risk Actors that relate to;

o misstatements atieng from fiauduleit financial reporting, such as

management's characteristics and influence over the control environment, 

industry conditions, operating characteristics and financial stability; and 

o misstatements arising from mis*q)propriation o f assets, such as 

susceptibility o f asses to m is^ropriation and internal controls^.

Auditors shpuld consider e te r  fiaud risk faeors and indicators, such as:

a. Nonconq>liance with laws and regulations;

b. M ateial charges in operations or operating performance;

c. Practices that fidl to conside changing economic conditions, for example, ove- 

reliance on historical data in the evaluation of credit risk;

d. M ateial one-time transactions, particularly those that (1) account for a material 

portion o f r ^ e d  incmne or othewise indicée attempts to realize large, short- 

tem  benefits or (2) occur e  or n ee  the end of a rqx)iting period;

e Highly coaq>lex or q>eculative transactions; 

f  Nontradhional or unusual loan transactions;

g. Potential for inside abuse, th e  is actions by the institution’s offers, directors, and 

major shareWders.

“  AICPA, 2003a. AU 312, AU 316.
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When conducting an FBO audit, the auditor should carefiilly consider the 

possibility of fraud and identify areas with high potential for material misstatements. 

Fraud risk foctws such as noncompliance with laws and regulations, material one-time 

transactions, and off-balance she^ transactions are areas with the highest potmtial for 

m ataial miystatementa in an FED audit.

Oqîî  Cpnsçrn

Audit standards require the auditor to evaluate -  as part of evwy financial 

statement audit -  whether there is substantial doubt about the entity’s ability to continue 

as a going concern for a reasonable period of time, not to exceed one year beyond the 

date of the foiancial statements being audited. The auditor’s evaluation o f an institution's 

ability to continue as a going concern may be one of the most complex and important 

portions o f foe audit and should be in du cted  in the following^manner:

a. The auditor considers whether the results o f procedures poformed identify con­

ditions and events that, vfoen considered in the aggregate, indicate there could be 

substantial doubt about the entity's ability to continue as a going concern for a 

reasonable period of time, 

b If such substantial doubts exist, the auditor should obtain information about 

managemeij^'s plans intended to mitigate the adverse effects of the conditions or 

events that gave rise to the doubt and assess the likelihood that such plans can be 

effectively implemented,

c. After evaluating management's plans, the auditor concludes \%foether he or she has 

substantial (jfoubt about the entity's ability to continue as a going concern for a 

reasonable period of time.
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d. If the auditor tnakes such conclusion, the audit report must contain a paragraph 

expressing the auditor’s “substantial doubt” about the w tity’s ability to continue 

as a going concern.

The following are examples o f conditions and events that may be oicountered in 

audits ofFQOsthat could indicate substantial doubt about the institution’s ability to 

continue as a going concern for a reasonable paiod of time; 

o Recurrh% (granting losses 

o Indications of strained liquidity

o Failure to m e^ minimum regulatory capital requirements 

o Concerns expressed or actions taken by regulatory authorities r<%arding a llie d  

unsafe or unsound practices 

o Indications o f strained relationships between management and r%ulat(*y 

authorities.^

The following are examples o f procedures normally poformed in audits of the 

financial st#onents of FBOs that may identify going concern conditions and events: 

o Perform analytical procedure 

o Review events subsequent to the balance sheet date 

o Review compliance with the terms of debt and loan agreements 

o Read minutes of meetings of the board of directors and important committees of 

the board

o Inquire of an entity's l%al counsel about litigation, claims, and assessments 

o Confirm with related and third parties the details of arrangements to provide or 

maintain financial support

AICPA, 2093a, AU 341
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o Review the financial strength and liquidity o f the parait ccmqxiny, if applicable 

o Review reports of âgnificant examinations and rdated communications between 

examiners and the institutimi 

o Review conqiUance with r^ulatory oqiital requirements

As discussed previously, one of the main reasons fiarfiie inoease in FBOs’ 

supervision by the federal agendes was the govemmmit’s and investors’ concerns over 

soundness of FBOs in the U.S and their ability to continue their operations due tù higher 

feilure rate of FBOs’ than domestic banks. Value-at-risk model summarizes in one 

figure the oqiected maximum loss on a line of business over a set time period with a 

given probability. Such analysis can be very useful to the auditor in evaluating the 

FBO’s ability to continue as a going concern. However, in conducting such analysis the 

auditor is likely to require help of a specialist. The auditor should recognize the 

importance of in-depth analysis o f unique risks facing the FBO that could affect the 

bank’s ability to continue its operations.

Devdoping an Ovorall Audit Man

Before starting the engagement work, the overall audit plan needs to be 

devdoped. The audhm’rdies on his or ha* professional judgment about assessing the 

levd of inherent risk in an engagement, because that type of ride affects the planmng 

process in tarns o f stafBng, the extent of siqiervision, overall audit scope and strategy, 

and the degree of profiKsional skepticism that would need to be q>plied during the audit 

work. By the nature of their business, all financial institutions, including domestic banks 

and savings institutions as w dl as FBOs, are oqposed to more risks than o tha non- 

financial businesses; financial institutions also operate in a highly r%ulated business

39

Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner. Further reproduction prohibited without permission.



environment All these aspects are to be considood while developing an ovwall audit 

plan in such a way that f^ m p ia te  perswmel are assigmd to areas of the engagement 

that involve relatively higher risk, stqiervisiou is adequate, and a higher degree of 

professional Scepticism is maintained.

In developing an ovmdl audit plan for an FBO, risk-focused pre-audit planning 

could be used by the auditor. Such approadi allows the auditor to better plan the audit 

according tq the size and unique business activities conducted by an FBO, and to 

concentrate resources on areas that expose an FBO to the highest degree risk.

ComgSimncp With Laws and Regulations

In planning the audit, the auditor should consider "matters affecting the industry 

in which tl^  entity operates, such as economic conditions, govonment regulations, and 

changes in technology, as they relate to the audit. In poforming an audit o f financial 

statements in accordance with GAAS, the auditor considers government regulations in 

light o f 1k > w  they might affect the financial statemoit assertions. Some laws and 

regulatimis, such as tax laws, have a direct and material effect on the determination of 

financial statonent amounts. Other laws and r%ulations, such as those rdated to 

securities trpdi%  occupational safety, and rq>orting requirements, relate more to an 

institution's operatiog aspects than to its financial and accounting aspects, and their effect 

on the financial statements is indirect. The indirect effect of violations of such laws and 

regulations is normally the result of the need to disclose a contingent liability or 

determination of illegality.

When dealing with FBOs, the auditor needs to be aware of their home country 

regulations and their potential effect on the FBO’s financial position in the U.S. Testing

“ AICPA 2003a, AU 311.
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of compliance with both the U.S. and the home country’s laws and regulations is 

necessary. D ébité the Act that the ultimate reqxW bility for conq>liance with laws and 

regulations pests with management of the institution, the auditor should be aware o f the 

potential for illegal acts with material effects on the institution's financial statements.

The auditor ̂ muld design the audit to provide reasonable assurance o f detecting 

misstatements resulting from illegal acts having a direct and material effect <m the 

determination of financial statement amounts.^ Also, as a result of the Sarbanes-Oxley 

Act, a public company’s management is required to file periodic reports with the SEC 

certifying tljiat the annual and quarterly rqrorts are free of material misstatanents and 

presented fairly. Management of a public company is also required to disclose to the 

auditor

o all significant deficiracies in the design or operation o f intenuil controls which 

could nudoially affect the financial statonents, 

o any fraud, whetha* or not material, that involves managemmt or otha* employees 

who have a significant role in the company’s internal controls.

The auditor of a publicly-traded FBO should obtain and review such reports before 

planning th^ audit. For a non-publicly traded FBO, the auditor should consider obtaining 

similar reports and assertions from the m aniem ent as well.

Management Representations

The auditor is required to obtain written representations from management as part 

o f an audit p i financial statements performed in accordance with GAAS.̂  ̂ Such 

representations are part of the evidential matter the auditor obtains, rathe- than a

“ AICPA 2002a,AÜ317. 
“ AICPA 2003a, AU 333.
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substitute fortfaeiqpplicaticm o f auditing procedures. Representations take the form o f a 

letter on the client’s lettohead, addressed to the auditor, sigrwd by the responsible officer 

such as the CEO, and dated as o f the date of the auditor’s rqpwt. Written rq>resetitations 

from managemW should be obtained fr>r all financial statements and periods covered by 

the audhcn’s rqport The q)ecific written representations to be obtained dq>end on the 

circumstances (^the enga^m ent and the nature aikl basis o f the presentation o f foe 

financial statements, (hdy an FBO’s management is in position to know fine dietails 

about the business operations o f an institution. Therefore, an FBO management’s 

representation is a unique source of information about the FBO ’s conq>licated operations, 

such as off-balance sheet activities. Rqpresentatirnis that may be (fotained from banks 

and savings institutions’ management are presented in Table 8.

Some of management's representations may be limited to matters that are 

considered either individually or coUectivdy material to foe financial statemmits, 

provided management and the accountant have reached an understanding on materiality 

for this purpose. The representations should be made as o f a date no earlier than the date 

o f the accountant's rqport Management's refiisal to furnish writtar rqpr»entations 

constitutes a limitation on the scope o f the audit suffirent to preclude an unqualified 

opinion and is ordinarily sufficient to cause an accountant to disclaim an opinion or 

withdraw fit>m the engagement.

Othor Reports and Eagr^emwits

The auditor should consider whether the nature o f foe work includes a need to 

provide the indqieodent audhm's reports to satisfy; 

o relevant r%ulatoiy requirements;
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Table 8: Management*» Representatioiis
Representation’s Intent Type of Representations
Compliance/R%ulatory
Issues

Make available to auditor:
• regulatmy examination rqwrts,
• institution’s supervisory correspondence,
• correspondence fiom rq)plicable r^ulatory 

% m des concerning supervisory actions, 
noncompliance issues.

Securities Held • classification of securities between held-to- 
maturity, available fi>r sale, w  trading cat%ories 
accurately reflects management's ability and 
intent.

Fair Value
Disclosures/Assumptions

• the methodology used for determining fidr value 
disclosures and assumptions.

Disclosure of 
Losses/Costs/Expenses 
of the Institution’s 
Business Activities

• adequate provision has been made for losses, 
costs, or mqrmses incurred on securities, loans, 
leases and real estate as o f the balance-sheet 
date.

Evaluation of Investment 
Securities Held

• other than tenqraraiy declines in the value of 
investment securities have been properly 
recognized in the financial statanents.

Financial Instruments 
vdth Off^Balamx Sheet 
Ride and Credit Risk

•  disclosure of financial instruments with 
significant off-balance sheet risk;

•  disclosure of concartrations of credit risk.
Capital Plan Disclosure •  status of the institution’s co ital plan filed with 

regulatws
• rqxxts on conq)liance with any formal 

agreement/orders.
Contingent Items • contingent assas and liabilities have been 

adequately disclosed in the financial statements.
Related Parties 
Transactions

• related party transactions have been entered into 
in compliance with existing regulations.

Source: AICPA, 200(

o audits of common trust fiinds or agreed-upon procedures related to trust activities; 

o identifying and audit of related-parties activities; 

o assessmeitt/audits of an entire FBOs U.S. or world-wide operations; 

o agreed-upon procedures on management assertions related to unique business 

operations; 

o compliance audit;
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o reports on internai control over financial reporting (required for public conq>ames 

undo- the Sarbanes-Oxl^ Act); 

o reports on the processing of transactions by banks and savings institutions 

fiinctioning as service organizations in accordance with Statement on Auditing 

Standards ($AS) No. 70, Service Organizations.

External Auditor’s Opinion

As was mentioned before, the result o f the audit mgagement is the audit rqrort 

where the auditor expresses an opinion on nduther the conqnmy’s financird statmnents 

present foir(y, m all material req)ects, its financial position, the results of its operations, 

and its cash flows in conformity with GAAP. This conclusion may be expressed only 

when the auditor has formed such an opinion on the basis o f an audit performed in 

accordance with GAAS. In the case of FBOs, this opinion becomes an important 

document used and relied on by many investws and regulators both domestically and 

intwnationally. The unqualified cq>inion (most often type issued) on Üm financial 

statements is the most desrable by any business entity, ft means that the auditor is 

unaware of any m ataial misstatanents on the firmncial statements. An example of the 

auditor’s (ip ’MG) report expressed on the audit of the FBO (Deautsche Bank) is 

presented in the Appendix C.

Tha’e are many challenges the auditor firces while auditing an FBO. Many of 

them relate to distinctive business fiinctions performed by FBOs. Off-balance sheet 

activities represent one of foe most common and difficult challa%es the auditor is likdy 

to encount^ during the audit of an FBO The following section discusses off-balance 

sheet activities and presents an offbalaime sheet activities’ audit program
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4.0 AUDITING OFF-BALANCE SHEET ACTIVITIES

4.1 OVERVIEW OF FBO OFF-BALANCE SHEET ACTIVITIES

Many FBOs are involved in a wide qxctm m  of banldng activities detigned to 

generate fee income, such as securities clearance and brokerage activities, data 

processing services, investment services and management advisory sovices. As tire 

branches of fineign banks find more avenues o f non-traditional banking activities 

available to them, they erqumd tire scope of services o fk ed  to custmners. For the 

majority o f FBOs* off-bdance sheet activities have become a regular part of thmr 

operations that gmerate a sizable amount of fee income Activities ofif-balance sheet 

mean that a bank enters into agreements that either do not have or have only a partial 

balance sheet reporting impact until a transaction is effected. These off-balance sheet 

items are quite diverse in nature and purpose and may include such instruments as firm 

loan commitments, standby letters o f oedit, foreign exchange, financial futures, forward 

crmtracts, options, interest rate swap contracts, and other derivative products.

Usually, until the customer actually borrows the fimds, no loan is booked as part o f the 

bank’s assets. These agreements, in turn, entail some risk as the bank must perform 

under the contract

An FBO might have a substantial interest in the performance o f the transaction 

involved and have a segregated depotit sufficient to cover its total potential liability. The 

branch may also guarantee or endorse notes or other Obligations sold by the branch for its 

own account. The amount o f the obligations covered by such guarantee or endorsement is 

to be disclosed as a contingent liability o f the financial institution Furttonnore, tire 

contingent liabilities are included in conqaiting the aggr%ate inddrtedness, which may
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be subject limitations imposed by any ^plicable law or regulation. Usually, the party

for Wiom the guarantee was issued will reimburse the branch should it be required to pay 

undo* the guarantee; however, in certain situations, some other designated party may 

reimburse the branch. That otha* party may be designated in the guarantee agreement 

with the branch or in the guarantee instrument itself. The branch may also be reimbursed 

from segregated deposits held, pledged collateral, or by a countw-guarantw. A list of 

off-balance slwet items (contingent liabilities) most frequently issued by FBOs includes 

the items presented below.

Most Compou Off-Balance Sheet Activities

Letters o f credit are the most widely used instrument to finance interactional trade 

transactions. The two miyor types o fle ttas o f o%dit are the commoxial documentary 

letter of credit and the standby letter of credit.

Commercial Documentary Letters of Credit

This type o f letter of credit is used most commonly to provide a bank’s credit and 

possible financing to  a commercial contract for the dtipmeot o f goods from seller to 

buye^. A commercial documentary letter o f credit is a letter issued by a bank (issuing 

bank) on bdialf o f its oistomer (account party, a buyer of marchandise), to a seUa 

(beneficiary), authorizing the sella  to draw drafts up to a stipulated amount, unda 

specified terms and undertaking to provide eventual payment for drafts drawn. The 

beneficiary will be paid when the terms of the le tta  o f credit are met and the required 

supporting documents are submitted to the paying or negotiating bank. The issuance and 

negotiation of letters of credit are governed by Article 5 of the Uniform Commercial
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Code (UCCy and the Unifonn Customs and Practice for Documentary Credits published 

by the Intonational Chamber of Commerce (ICC). All letters o f credit must be issued 

o In &vor of a definite beneficiary 

o For a specific amount of money

o In a form clearly stating how payment to  the beneficiary is to be made and 

under vdtat conditions 

o W ithe deSnite «cpiratitm date.

Commercial letters o f credit are issued in either irrevocable or revocable form. An 

irrevocable jktter of credit cannot be changed without the agreement of all parties. 

Conversely, a revocable letter of credit can be canceled or amended by the issuing bank 

at any time, ^ th o u t notice to or the agreement o f the beneficiary. An irrevocable letter 

of credit constitutes a d ^n ite  commitment by the issuii^ baidc to pay, provided the 

beneficiary complies with the le tt^ ’s terms and conditions. In contrast, the revocable 

letter o f credit is not truly a bank credit but serves as a device that provides the buyer and 

seller a meaas-of settling payments. Because a revocable letter o f credit can be canceled 

or changed without notice, the baieficiary should not rdy on the cedit, but rather on the 

willingness and ability o f the buyer to meet the terms of the undedying contract. The 

lett«- o f credit may be sent to the beneficiary directly by the issuing bank, through the 

beneficiary’sbank, or through the issuing bank’s correspondent located in the same place 

as the beneficiary. The correspondait may act as an “ advising bank” that is, it may act 

as an agent pf the issuing bank in forwarding the letter on to the beneficiary without any 

commitment to pay on its part. Advised letters o f credit will bear a notation by the 

advising bank that it makes “ no engagement” or words to that effect. An irrevocable
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advised letter of credit is, therefore, an undotaking to pay by the issuing bank but not by 

the advising bank. Some ben^ciaries (sellas), particularly those not Amiliar with the 

issuing bank, request that the buyer have the issuing bank ask the advising bank to add its 

"confirmation" to tlw issuing bank’s irrevocable le tta  of credit.

Confirmed letters of credit are evidenced by the confirming bank’s notation; "W e 

undertake that all drafts drawn. . .  will be honored by us’’ or sim ila words. The 

beneficiary o f a confirmed credit has a definite commitment to pay fi*om a bank in his or 

h a  country and does not need to be concaned with tW willingness or ability o f the 

issuing bank to pay. One bank may play more than one role. For example, an advising 

bank may add its confirmation and be designated in the le tta  as the paying hank 

Payment teims o f a le tta  o f credit usually vary fiom sight to 180 days, although o tha 

tarns somaimes a e  used. If  the draft is a time draft, tte  drawee bank can accept the draft 

(by stamping "Accepted’’ on the Ace of the draft), which then can be held by eitha the 

seUa or the sella’s bank or the acctqfting bank until maturity. Alternatively, the accepted 

draft can be sold or discounted. (Refer to the Bankas’ Acceptances section.) Certmn 

cat^ories of commercial letters o f aedh, sudi as "back-to-back, ’’ "transferable,’’ 

"deferred paymart,’’ "revolving," and "red clause" credits, contain ^ecific elements 

of risk.

o A back-to-back le tta  of credit is one wfaae a commacial le tta  o f credit (m asta 

aedit) is used as security to support the issuance of a second credit to another 

supplia (sella). The beneficiary (sella) of the aedit becomes t k  applicant of 

the second te tta  of aedit. In <^ha words, the beneficiary assumes the role of a 

middleman between the actual supplia and the ultimate buya of the merchandise.
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The difierence between the master credit amount and the back-to-back credit is 

the middleman’s profit. Back-to-back credits are most fiequently seen in 

situations w ^«e the exporter (middleman) is unable to purchase merchandise on 

his own credit rating.

o A transferable letter of credit enables the original beneficiary to transfo* the rights 

of payment jto one or more beneficiaries. These credits are normally seen when 

the original beneficiary acts as an agent and does not supply some or all o f the 

merchandise or does not have the financial resources or credit necessary to 

purchase the merchandise. In some instances, the beneficiary may wish to keep 

the supplier and q>plicant ignorant of each other (so as to protect his profit as 

middleman) by requesting the advising bank to substitute his own name for that of 

the applicant. The rights in a  transferable letter o f credit may not be transferred 

by the second beneficiary to a third party unless otherwise aated.

o Defored payment lettm  of credit are similar to commercial letters of credit in 

that they provide for payment at some date after shipment of the goods Howevo-, 

this type of credit does not require a time draft to be presented for payment. The 

merchandise is released without payment. Instead, the issuing bank undertakes to 

reimburse the paying bank at some future date as stipulated in the credit.

Deferred payment credits are discouraged by banks since no debt instrument 

exists to discount.

o A revolving letter of credit allows for the amount of the credit to be renewed or 

automatically reinstated without specific amendments to the c ra iit Such credits 

allow for flexibility in commo-cial dealings between e?qx>rters and importers;
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iKTwever, credits of this type usually specify a maximum overall amount i&tich 

can be drawn for control purposes. Credits of this type can revolve in relation to 

time or value, and be cumulative or non-cumulative. In practice, the vast majority 

oflett«3 of credit are non-revolving. Since foe maximum e7qx>sure under an 

irrevocable reviving credit can be large, most revolving credits are issued in 

revocable form.

o Originally a clause in the letter of credit was writtm in red ink to draw attention to 

the qrecial nature of the credit. Hence, the name Red Clause Credits was derived 

The use of this clause permits foe beneficiary to obtain an advance or pre- 

foipment advances from the advising or confirming bank. Its purpose is to 

provide the seller credit. Any advances are foe responsibility o f foe issuing bank. 

Interest is normally charged by foe bank making the advance until dooiments are 

presented and the bank is reimbursed by the issuing bank.

Standbv Lexers of Credit

A standby l^t@" of credit provides for pf^ment to the beneficiary by foe issuing 

bank in the event of default or nonperformance by foe account party (the issuing bank’s 

customer) upon foe presentation of a draft or the docummitation, as required in the letter 

o f credit. AJthcnigh a standby letter of credit may arise from a commercial transaction, it 

usually is not linked directly to the shipment of goods from seller to buyer, fr may covw 

performance o f a construction contract, serve as an assurance to a bank that the seller will 

honor his or ho" obligations undo* warranties, w  rdate to foe payment of a purely 

monetary obligation, for example, when the credit is used in backing payment of 

commercial paper. Under all letters of credit, the banker expects the account party to be
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fmancially #ble to meet his or her commitments. A banker’s payment under a 

commercial letter o f credit for the customer’s account is usually rdlmbursed immediately 

by the customer and does not become a loan. However, payment under a standby letter of 

credit generally occurs because the account party has defouhed on its primary obligation. 

That defoult can be a result o f the customer being unable to pay or a dispute between the 

beneficiary and the account party.

A standby letter of credit transaction involves greater potential risk for the issuing 

bank than dpes a commercial dooimentary letter of credit. Unless the transaction is fully 

secured, the issuer o f a standby letter of credit retains nothing o f value to protect against 

loss, wheretis a commercial documentary letto' of o%lit may provide the bank with title 

to the goods being shipped. To reduce the risk of a standby W er of credit, the issuing 

bank’s credit analysis o f the account party should be equivalent to that applicable to a 

borrower in an mdinary unsecured loan situation. For rqxnting purposes, standby letters 

of credit are sWwn as contingent liabilities in the branch’s Report o f Assets and 

Liabilities. Depending on any applicable state and federal laws and regulations, standby 

letters of cryiit may be subject to prudential limitations.

Government and Agency Guaranteed LettCTS Of Credit

The process o f foreign trade also is focilitated by various U.S. government 

agencies and international organizations. Some programs guarantee paym«its under 

letters of credit issued by commercial banks to prmnote U.S. exports or at the request o f 

international organizations which reimburse banks for l^ e rs  o f aedit issued on their 

behalf The most cmnmon agencies which guarantee letters o f credit are presented in 

Table 9.

51

Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner. Further reproduction prohibited without permission.



Table 9: Agencies. Goaranteeing Lettera Of Credit
Name M ajor Functions

E?q>ort-Import Bank of 
the U.S. OBximbank)

Independent agency of the U.S. government, frcilitates 
the financing o f U.S. exports.

Private Export Funding 
Corporation (PEFCO)

Private corporation, makes U.S. dollar loans to foreign 
importers to finance purchases o f goods or services of 
U.S. manufacture or origin.

Commodity Credit 
Corporation (CGC)

U.S. government agency, provides commercial credit and 
political ride guarantees to fitcilitate the financing of U.S. 
commodity exports.

Agency for 
International 
Development (AID)

The largest unit of the International Development Co­
operation Agency; it administra the bilateral foreign aid 
programs of the U.S. govmment; provides U S. dollars 
through loans and grants for foreign assistance recipients 
to purchase, products needed for development programs 
and related technical and professional services.

International Bank for 
Reconstruction and 
Development (IBRD)

Transnational organization organized for the purpose of 
financing infrastructure and development projects in 
lesser developed countries.

Inter-American 
Development Bank 
(lADB)

Oldest and largest regional multilateral development 
institution; helps accelerate social and economic 
development projects in Latin America and the 
Caribbean

Overseas Private 
Investment Corporation 
(OPIC)

Self-sustaining U.S. government corporation; promotes 
economic growth in developing nations by encouraging 
U.S. private investment in feose countries; it insures U.S. 
investors against political risks and finances selected 
investment projects through direct loans or loan 
guarantees.

Source: Federal Reserve System, 1997

O ther T y pp  e f FBO Off-Balance Sheet Activities

Steam Letter of Guarantee

Freqpientiy, ia  an international sale o f goods, the merchandise arrives at the 

importer’s (buye-’s) port and the conq>lete negotiable bills o f lading are either lost or 

delayed in transit In such instances, it is customary for the importer (buyer) to obtain 

immediate possession of

the goods by providing the shipping company with a bank guarantee, often called a 

steamship guarantee, which relieves the shipping conq)any of liability resulting from
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release of the goods withcmt propw or conq>lete negr^iable title documents. Usually, the 

guarantee relies on a countw-guarantee issued to Ae branch by the impcater.

Other ConaupHments

These transactions include the portion of commitments that obligate the branch to 

extrad credit in the form o f loans (including credit card lines), participations in loans, 

lease financing receivables, w  similar transactions. This cat%ory would include 

commitmmts for which the branch has charged a commitment fee or other consideration 

or otherwise has a legally binding commitment.

Futures andforward Contracts

Futures and forward contracts are tools for use in asset and liability management, 

which can be used by FBOs to effiectively hedge portions of their portfolios against 

interest rate ride. Branches that «gage in futures and forward contract activities should 

only do so ip accordance with safe and sound banking practices, with levels o f activity 

reasonably related to the branch’s business needs and capacity to fulfill its obligations 

under the a^Aracts, In managing their assets and liabilities, branches should evaluate the 

interest rate risk e^qrasure resulting fiom their ov«'all activities to «isure that the 

positions th ^  take in fiituresand forward contract markets will reduce their risk 

exposure. Policy r^jectives should be formulated in lig^t of the branch’s entire asset and 

liability mb^ Definitions of fiitures and forward œntracts are as follows:

• Futures contracts are standardized contracts traded (m organized exchanges to 

purchase or sell a ^ed fied  security, money market instrument, or other 

financial und«taking on a future date at a spedfied price
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•  Forward comracts are over-the-counter contracts for forward placement or 

delayed delivery o f securities in which one party %rees to purchase and 

another to seU a  ̂ >ecifîed security at a sq>ecified price for future delivery 

Contracts specifying settlement in excess of 30 days following the trade date 

are considered to be forward contracts. Forward omtracts are not traded on 

organized exchanges, generally have no required margin payments, and can 

only be b^minated by agreement o f both parties to the transaction.

Standbv Contracts and Other Option Arrangements

Standby contracts and other option arrangements are also tools for asset and 

U tility  management which, when properly used, can reduce the risks of interest rate 

fluctuations, Stamlby contracts are optional delivery forward contracts on U.S. 

government and agency securities, arranged between securities dealers and customers. 

The buyer o f a standby contract (put option) acquires, upon paying a fee, the right to sell 

securities to the other party at a stated price at a fiiture time. The seller o f the standby (the 

issuer) receives the fee and. must stand ready to buy the securities at the other party’s 

option. Exchange trading is conducted in opticms specifying detivoy of debt securities, 

money market instruments, or fiitures contracts specifying delivery of debt securities.

Foreign Exchange Contracts

These are contracts to exchange one currency for another as of a specified date 

and time at a specified rate of exchange (price). Delivery o f the currency may be spot 

(two or less business days) or forward (more than two business days).

Interest Rate Swap Contracts

Interest rate swap contacts are private, over-the-counter contracts between
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counterparties for exchanging interest payments for a  specified period based on a notional 

principal amount. Entities generally enter into interest rate swiq)s for interest rate risk 

management, namely, to manage the interest rate exposures arising from asset and 

liability positions.

Trading Activities

Trading activities include the purchase or sale o f a wide range o f financial 

instruments for speculative or hedging purposes. The range of trading instruments has 

experienced substanthü growth in recent years. The most common instruments seen at 

branches include derivative products, foreign exchange, and securities.

Due to their complex nature, a solid understanding o f off-balance sheet activities 

is required o f the auditor. A list of most common off-balance sheet activities as discussed 

above includes essentially two types o f such activities -  letters o f aedit and other types. 

However, tljte Ust islimitedandsimplifiedfor the purpose o f this research. Indeed, to 

satisfy demand of customos, FBOs are constantly coming up with new, sometimes 

controversi# and risky, (^-balance sheet activities which are often difficult to understand 

and even more challenging to audit. The goal of the next section is to discuss selected 

issues facing the m ditw  in the (^balance sheet activities audit.

4.2 OFF-BALANCE SBXET ACnVITTES AUDIT PROGRAM

The process of creating an external audit program for FBO off-balance sheet 

activities makes up this section of the research. A discussion o f the off-balance sheet 

activities audit program's scope, analytical procedures, planning, objectives, management 

considoation and internal controls are introduced in this section. The main goal of this 

section is to  p rien t a real life partial audit program for FBOs The focus is on presenting
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and discussing the audit process and objectives a n d tk ir relevance and impact on the 

final outcome of any indq)endent external audits -  the Independent Auditor’s Report. 

The program itself is presented ia  Appendix A.

General Financial Reporting Issues

The prunary objective of financial reporting is to provide present and potential 

investors, creditors, and other users with information that is useful in making investment, 

credit, and qther decisions. All these different user groups want different infonhation. 

Developed to acMeve that goal, GAAP is a dynamic set of both broad and ^>ecific 

guidelines tbat companies should follow when measuring and reporting information in 

their financial staten^nts. Gmeral-purpose financial statements prqw ed in conformity 

with GAAP are assumed to be the most cost-effectiveway to provide the desired 

information In an attempt to make such statmnents as comprelicnsive as possible, the 

tendency haa beento require disclosure o f virtually any material item of information that 

may be of interest to financial statement users. On the other haml, it is impossible to 

present all tbe hdbrmation about a firm essential for decision making in a balance sheet, 

income statement, statement of cash flows, arxl statanent of stockholdws’ equity.

StatœKnt o f Financial Accounting Concq)ts (SFAC) No. 5 outlines various types 

of information beyond finaixâal statement information used in investment, credit, and 

similar decisions. In accordance to SFAC No. 5, informatioo useful for investment, 

credit, and similar decisions includes financial statements, notes to financial statements, 

supplementary informatUm, m aniem ent discussion and analysis, and othar information 

such as discussion of competition, ordw backlogs, analysts’ rqmrts, etc. The problem 

any user of pnancial statements is focing is that not all o f this relevant information is
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aq)tared aad presented in financial statwnents. The challenge fiuâng the auditw is to 

decide whether financial statements o f a company are presented Airly (firee o f material 

errors) and are m accordance ta  GAAP. However, even if tlMS statements meet all these 

requirements the auditor naist make a dedsion whether infiurmation other than that 

required by GAAP needs to be disclosed in financial sta ten^ts. Also, GAAP is vague 

on the accounting and reporting tredment o f some issues, and off-balance sheet activities 

isoneofthqm .

Accounting and Disdosnre o i Off-Balance Sheet Activities

Accounting treatment o f off-balance sheet activities has always been a 

controvo^ial one, with businesses, pditicians, creditors and r%ulatws takh% part in the 

discussion, pying to  infiuetKe the issue. The issue is so complicated and controversial 

that even multiple FASB standards on accounting and disclosure of off-balance sheet 

activities have not addressed the problem. The biggest problem for accountants and 

auditors is how to measure, account for and verify the value of the off-balance sheet 

activity, all pteps necessary to  record and/or (fisclose that amount in the firumcial 

statanents

Some off-balance sheet activities, such as dmvatives, are to be recognized in the 

financial stt|t«nents and partially reported as assets or liabilities on the balaru» sheet at 

their Air value as o f the balance sheet date. A consequence of this tqrproach is that 

changes in the Air value o f derivatives must also be recognized on the income statement. 

Companies are required to provide a description o f their risk management strat%y and 

how dmvatives fit into that strate^. Companies must also disclose the gains and losses 

on derivatives. Another item that is also required to be disclosed is the notional amount
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of Ae contract, Wuch is the total âce  amount o f the ass^ or liability that underlies Ae 

contract (notional amount is Asclosed m the footnotes o f the financial staten«nts). The 

problem is that Ae notional amount of Ae contract is often misleading and the fiUr- 

market value of Ae contact is often zero and prompts no entry. An exan^)le of 

accounting ^ r  an off-balance sheet activity (a currency forward contract) is presented in 

Dlnstnition 2.

niustratMiii 2: Example of Accounting Entries-for Cnrrency Forward Cdntract

On November 1,2003, an American conqnmy sold a machine to a Ji^)anese 

company for ¥30,000,000 to be received on January 1,2004 (Ae exchange rate is¥120 

par $1 on Ae day o f sale). On the same date, an Amarican company entered into a yen 

forward contract wiA im FBO for 11,000 fee. The FBO makes a journal entry to record 

this transactimi:

11/01/03 Cash S 1,000

Fee Revenue -  currency forward contract S 1,000

No entry is made to recard the potaitial liabilities associated wiA Ae forward contract, 

and as of 11/01/03 the forward contract has a fair value of $0. The value is z^o  because 

settlement payments are made under tW contract cmly if Ae exchange rate on 01/01/04 

differs fiom ¥120 per $1.

Let’s assume that the actual exchange rate on 12/31/03 is ¥125 per $1. At this 

exchange rate, an FBO will have a loss of $10,000 on Ae forward contract and be 

required to make a $10,000 payment^^ on 01/01/04 to settle the forward contract.

^ PntentialHflhiBiy _  Pntentfal liflhilitv = 30.000.000 - 30.000.000 = 240,000 -  250,000= 10,000 loss 
Curraityemate Ongiaal yen rate 123 120
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Accordingly, on 12/31/03, the FBO recognizes a $10,000 loss and liability under the 

forward contract. The adjusting entry to recognize the exchange rate change is:

12/31/03 Losa on. Forward-Contract $10,000

Forward Contract (llabiUty) $ 10,000

Notes to th^ financial statements would disclose the curroit notional amount o f the 

contract of $240,000. The journal entry necessary ontheFBO’s books to record the 

settlement o f the yen finward contract on 01/01/04 are as foUows:

01/01/04 Forward Contract $ 10,000

Cash $ 10,000

Note that if  the exchange rate has charged to ¥150 per $1 that the losses and 

liabilities would have been $50,000 at 12/31/03. This example illustrates that the risk 

related to ofif-balance sheet liabilities could be almost unlimited, and that the mechanism 

to disclose, measure and quantify such risk is less than, adequate The obvious short&ll 

with such valuation is that at the time of inception of the contract and throughout the 

year, no amounts of losses and liabilities are being disclosed. It is disclosed later on the 

date the fimancial statements are prepared. A notkr short&ll is that the amount disclosed 

on the date fhe financial statmnents are prepared doesn’t  represent the firll amount of 

potential losses and liabilities.

Speaking about ofif-balance sheet activities, one must mention ofif-balance sheet 

risk, which refers to the volatility in income and maricet value of bank equity that may 

arise fiiom unantirapated losses due to these ofif-balance sheet liabilities (sometimes 

referred to as contingent liabilities). These activities may also involve risks which are
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difficult to quantify, such as l%al risk or reputarion risk. The most commonly recognized 

types o f FBO’s rides associated with off-balance sheet activities are;

o principal (position^ credit, and settlement risk (i.e., loss of principal due to 

deâuh by a contractual party); 

o interest rate (basis), market, andforeign exchange risk (i.e., depredation of 

principal amount or loss of income due to rate, marieet or currency fluctuations); 

o daylight overdraft risk (le., exposure due to transactions originating and settling 

during the same day); 

o liquidity risk (i.e., lade o f funds to faonOT cmnmitmeats leading to h%her 

borrowii% costs); 

o country ride; and 

o litigatkm risk.

O f these, the major risks to consider would be credit risk, int«est rate risk, and market

risk.

Audit Activities For Off-Balance Sheet Items

The audit of off-balance sheetactivities is similar to the audits of any other 

transaction -  its goal is to rasure completeness, existmce, valuation, ownership, and 

disclosure in accordant» with GAAP But because generally accepted accounting 

principles are only beginning to address the problem o f recording these contracts on the 

face o f the W ance sheet, notional and contractual amounts for off-balance sheet 

activities are not always recognized in the statmnent of financial position Off-balance 

sheet items duaild be analyzed as part of the FBO’s overall risk management assessment. 

Potential exposure, funding sources, the adequacy of risk management, and intonal
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controls fw ofif-balance sheet risks are specific matters that should be considered. 

Disclosure requirements related to ofif-balance sheet activities can be conq>licated and 

extensive and be a challenge for the auditw to audit.

Planning

It is obvious that ofif-balance sheet hems may be complex, volatile, and 

sometimes difficult to fiilly undastand; also, ways o f accountii^ for them are afifected by 

management’s intenticms. Those matters are likely to increase audh risk in audhing 

financial statements o f any financial institution that carries such hems. A key question 

for addressing the audh of ofif-balance sheet activities is whether and to what extent the 

FBO engages in such activities.

In general, a good starting point in learning about ofif-balance sheet activities 

would be to gather information fix>m the management by inquiry, review minutes of the 

board o f directws’ meeth%s or if available, finance committees of the FBO, review 

activity in accounts such as investments (wdiere transactions are being recorded), and 

look into prior poiods’ financial statements disclosures. In the instances where 

transaction^ arecomplicated and the auditor lacks theknow led^to fiiUy understand 

them, it may be advisable to use the work o f ̂ >ecialists in such areas of banking.

Assessing i^udh Risk

Once the information about the nature and extent of ofif-balance sheet activhies is 

available, tbe auditor can use thatinfi>rmation in assessing the audh risk and carrying out 

the engagement in accordance whh GAAS. Assessment of each of three elements of 

audh risk is discussed next.
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Inhérent Riric

The auditor should consider inherent risk in planning and designing the audit and 

in issuing the opinion on the statements as a whole. The following Actors may indicate a 

potential for higher inhoent risk, 'ndiich will increase audit risk if additional audit work is 

not performed:

o Sudden or rt^)id growth in derivatives activities 

o Significi^ use of dmvatives without rdevant expertise within the FBO 

o TQgh volatility in interest rates, currendes, or othw Actors affecting the values of 

derivatives

o Inclusion o f embedded options or o tlw  complex contractual terms 

o Crmcentration of aed it risk with one counterparty 

o Large one-time transactions

o Inadequtde information to effectively monitor derivatives transactions, including 

inadequate or untimely information about derivatives values 

These and dher Actcxs should be considered in the context o f the items’ 

complexity, the extent o f such activities and their affect on the FBO’s financial 

statements taken asa  vriide.

Control Ride

It is essential that a system of controls be in place to limit and manage off-balance 

sheet risk. These controls, including policies, procedures, recordkeeping systems, and 

audit coverage, should be sufficiently detailed to ensure proper performance evaluation 

by an FBO tmd head office management, auditors, and regulatory authorities. Formal 

written policies, stating goals ard strategies and setting limitations at various levels, are
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necessary to  prevent abuses and to act as benchmarks against which performance may be 

gauged. A limit should be placed on an activity’s total volume. In addition, limits should 

be established for individual customers, and parameters should be set for traders. 

Procedures should be in place to ensure that operations are consistent with written 

policies. Conq>rehensive recordkeeping andrqrorting are needed for adequate audit 

coverage and management of information. Most inqrortantly, braix^h management should 

be aware o f all off-balance sheet activity and ensure that controls and procedures are in 

place to identify and monitor attendant ride

According to the auditing standards, the auditor is required to obtain sufficient 

understanding of each of the five components of the internal control (the control 

environment, risk assessment, control activities, information and communication, and 

monitoring). The level of intomal control for off-balance sheet hems employed by FBOs 

could vary a&h would be affected by the extent o f the institution’s use of such activities 

and their relative complexity. Effective internal control over financial reporting of off- 

balance sheet activhies would include adequate segregation of duties, management 

oversight, and other policies which are designed to reasonably assure that -

o Off-balance sheet transactions are done in accordance with the FBO’s written 

policies (as rqrproved at the appropriate company’s level, such as the main 

office)

o Information about such transactions entered into the accounting system is 

complete and accurate 

o Misstatetnents in the processing of accounting information are prevmited or 

detected in a timely manner
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o Such trangactians are monitored on an ongoing basis to recognize and measure 

events afifectiag related financial statements’ assertioiis

Detection ^ s k

In contrast to inherent and control risk, the auditor is reqwnsible for performing 

the evidence gatheri% procedures that manage and control detection risk. These audit 

procedures (commonly refiared to as substantive testing), rqnesent the auditor’s 

opportunity to  detect material misstatements that can cause statanents to be misleading. 

Objectives of substantive tests for off-balance sheet transacticms include the following:

a. Off-balï|pce sheet contracts have been executed and processed according to 

management’s authorization;

b. Income on doivatives, including prermums and discounts, is properly 

measured and recorded;

c. Such items are accoumed for m the financial statements according to the 

GAAP;

d. Chaiiges in the market value of off-balance sheet hems have been 

appropriate^ measured and accounted for,

e. Information about off-balance she^ items is conq>lete and has been propaly 

classified, described, and disclosed.

Specific substantive tests fiiat are used to detect matoial misstatanents in dollar 

amounts and disclosures presemed in the financial statements and footnotes are discussed 

next.
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Substantive Tests

Many off-balance sheet hems are n%otiated contracts between the institution and 

its counterparty. Because such transactions are usually not routine, a substantive audh 

approach may be the most effective mean of achieving the planned audh objectives. 

Procedures performed in other financial statement areas might also provide evidence 

about the con^leteness o f the transactions rdated to ofif-balance sheet items. These 

procedures may mclude testa of subsequent cash re c e ^ a n d  payments, reviewdsg cutoff 

bank statements, and the search f o r  unrecorded U tilities.

A primary audh (Agective addressed through substantive procedures is 

determining the proprfoy of the instftations* accounting and disclosure for sudi 

activities. Tpdo so, the auditor gains an undgstanding of management’s objeAives in 

engaging in off-balance sheet activhies transactiona Fmr off-balance drect items 

accounted foas-hedges, the auditor generally tests w hetha the applicable hedging 

criteria are m ^. This might deermine that the institution is appropiately distinguishing 

between speculating and hedging. The mrditor also may examine support for conq>leed 

transactions to ascertain that they have been accounted for q>propiiately. For example, 

the auditor m i^  review transactions that resulted in deferrals o f losses during the period 

to determine whether they qualified for deferral accounting. Similarly, the auditor might 

review gains reeogmzed during the poiod to determine whetho’ they were hedgmg gains 

that should have been deferred.

If  the institution’s off-balance slmet items are not exchange-traded or otherwise 

standardized, the auditor may consider inspecting the contracts ami related transaction 

tickets to understand the terms o f the transaction and identify nonstandard features, such
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as the existence of «nbedded options. Nonstandard features may significantly increase 

the risks and conqWexities of the transactions and may involve potential accounting and 

disclosure cmisequences.

Analytical procedures might be effectively used as a substantive test to obtain 

evidential n;*dter abo*# particular assations related to off-balance sheA activities. These 

procedures become vary important in auditing off-balance sheet activities, because they 

allow the aiiditor to  efficiently compare recorded amounts and ratios to expectations 

developed by the auditor. However, in mrdar to effectivdy perform analytical 

procedures, the auditor needs to gain a fiill understanding o f the nature of such activities. 

The following are examples of sources o f information that foe auditor can use to develop 

expectations for off-balance sheet activities:

o Prior periods’ financial information, giving conrideration to known changes; 

o Budgets ^md forecasts fogt could be extrapolated from either interim financial data 

or fimn sources used by management (intenal rqxxts); 

o Information r^arding foe industry in which the financial institution operates -  

this becomes critical with re^>ect to auditing FBOs since tiieir operations are 

influenced hy numerous fectors outside the scope of the audit engagement (home 

country economic and regulatmy informatitm); 

o Relatioifsh^ of financial information to relevant con-financial information. 

Confirmation is the process of obtaining and evaluating a direct communicaticHi 

from a third party in  r e f u s e  to arecpiestfor information about a particular item 

affecting finandal statement assertions. The auditor can confirm the accuracy o f off- 

balance she# items by sending confirmation lettos to all parties involved in foe
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contractual arrangement. The process includes selecting items for i^ c h  confirmation 

are to be requested, deigning the confirmation request and communicating the 

confirmation request to the appropriate third party. Other tests the auditor may perform 

include testing the mathematical accuracy o f the accounting records, examining 

documentatKw for conqjleted transactions to ascertain that they have been accounted for 

appropriately and in the proper period, and verifying conqxitations and rates used for 

realized gains-and losses during the period.

The auditor is responsible for determining the extent o f substantive testing 

considered necessary, based on the nature and significance of the related transactions and 

the assessment o f audit ride. S AS No. 31 fuovide s guidance on evaluating evidential 

matter and rdating itto  assertions in an institutions’ financial statanents.

Auditimt Fair Values and Other Estimates

Audhing estimates and. foir-values o f the FBO’s off-balance sheet items becomes 

critical, since many of these items would not have a stated foce or notional amount, and 

they might be difficult to identify. The FBO’s management is responsible for 

establishing a process for preparing such estimates and recording them. The auditor’s 

responsibility for the audit in confijrmify with GAAS is to obtain sufficient competent 

evidential matter to povide reasonable assurance that -

a. All accounting estimates that could be material to the financial statements 

have been developed;

b. Those accounting estimates are reasonable in the circumstances;

c. The accounting estimates are presented in conformity with applicable 

accounting pinciples and are propaiy disclosed.
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The auditOT should obtain an understanding o f how management developed 

estimates, concentrating on the Actors and asstinqotions used. The auditor may also 

review and test the process usedby management to. develop an estimate. The Air value 

of certain ofiT-balance sheet items, such as exchange-traded options, is generally readily 

available front independent pricing sources. Such sources include financial publications 

or brokers and dealers indq)eiKient of the financial institution. Detomining tiie friir value 

of other one-time off-balance sheet items can be difficult, especially if the item Was 

customized just fiar the needs of the institution, and it may require cmnplicated 

mathematic^modelingand various levels of cpiantitati ve assumptions; it also involves a 

high ride of errors. All these considerations make fair-value calculations stAjective and 

depardent qn^pecifics of the transaction (arch as the credit risk associated with specific 

counterparties). After consideii% all of the above mentioned Actors, the auditor might 

(xmsider ush% aw(nk o i  a ^eciaUst in hewing with such transactions’ estimates

5.0 SUMMARY

Globalization provided FBOs with an opportunity to increase their presence in the 

banking market of the U.S. Many foreign banks seized that opportunity and aggressively 

eq>anded iqto thnU.S. mark^. Along with FBOs’ expansion came new issues specific to 

operations of foreign banks, such as a need to ensure frneign banks’ soundness, 

legitimacy and compliance with laws and r%ulations. Only increased supervision by 

regulatory govamment agencies such as the Fedaal Reserve System, the Office of the 

ComptroUa of the Curraicy and tlm Securities and Exchange Commission can guarantee 

saA and dynamic wmk of the banking sectw. However, many of the supervision 

mechanisms can be implemented with the help of independent auditors. Recent
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developmeql» ia  the auditing profession such as passing of the Saifoanes-Oxl^ Act, 

inoeasing demand for forensic accounting, and auditws' increasing emphasis (m 

detection o f fiaud indicate that independent auditws are playing a vital role in providing 

greata* assurances to the maricet. Conducting independent audits and governments 

supervising FBOs havebecome and will continue to be some o f the biggest issues related 

to foreign banks’ operations.

One activity pioneered by FBOs was the qxread of off-balance sheet transactions. 

As was sho^vn,. accounting treatment of off-balance sheet activities does not provide a 

complete picture o f the economic substance o f such transactions. With FBOs the risks 

related to inaderpiate disclosure of such activities is increased. To mitigate the problem 

and following the passage of the Saibanes-Oxley Act, the SEC voted to require public 

conqpanies to  include an explanation of their off-balance sheet arrangements in a 

separately captioned subsection of the “Management’s Discussion and Analysis.” As in 

the case of the FBSEA of 1991, dramatic events in the banking industry promoted 

equally dramatic dranges to the way the banking sector operates in the U.S. Auditors and 

r^ulators have to adjust their procedures and methods in accordance with the 

complicated nature of many off-balance sheet itmns and the dianging r^ulatw y 

environment. This papa’s discussion o f FBOs’ off-balance sheet activities and 

procedures auditors use to audit such activities illustrates the numerous challenges facing 

auditors and regulators.

Growth of foreign trade, international banking, and cmnnumication tools will only 

furtha stimulate the qiread of FBOs. The regulators, domestic banks, and customers 

riiould welcome the arrival of new playas to the banking sector, it will inomote healthy
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competition and an inœ ase in the industiy’s effidency and effectiveness. The way to 

prqpaie for the arrival o f new players is to stxy informed about new developments and be 

prqNured to deal with them. The goal ofthis research is to assist in fulfilling that 

objective.
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A P P e m K A  

Andh Prognun -  Off-Balance Sheet Items^

I. Audit (^ttectlves

1. To determine if policies, practices, procedures, and internal controls r^iarding 

guarantees, issued ace adequate.

2. To detemine if branch officers are operating in conformance with established 

guidelines.

3. To evaluate the pmtfolio for credit quality, collectibility, and collateral 

sufficiency.

4. To determine the scope and adequacy o f the audit function, as it applies to 

guarantees.

5. To determine compliance with applicable laws and regulations.

6. To recommend corrective action when policies, practices, procedures, or internal 

controls are deficient or when violatirms o f law or emulations have been noted.

n. Internal Control Consideration and Control Testing

Review the branch’s internal ccmtrols, policies, practices, and procedures for 

issuing m d servicing guarantees.

1. Has branch and head office management adopted writtar policies pertaining to 

guarantees iswed that:

a. Establidi procedures for reviewii% guarantee applications?

b. Define qu^fied  guaramee account parties?

c. Establish minimum standards for documentation in accordance with 

the Umfixm Commercial Code?

“  Federal Reserve Systan, 1997.
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2. Are policies reviewed at least annually to determine if they are compatible with 

changing maiket conditions?

3. Are the subsidiary guarantees issued records balanced daily with the general 

ledger and are recondling items adequately investigated by persons vdio do not 

normally handle guarantees?

4. Is a daily record maintained summarizing guarantee transaction details which 

support ledger enttiea (le., guarantees issued, guarantees canceled or rehewed, 

payment made undo* guarantees, and fees collected)?

5. Are blaWc guarantee forms sa f^ a rd ed  during banking hours and locked in the 

vault overnight?

6. Are all guarantees issued recorded as contingent liabilities and assigned 

consecutive numbers?

7. Are all guarantees issued recorded on individual customer (account party) liability 

ledgers?

8. Is the information covered by this internal controls questionnaire adequate for 

evaluating internal controls in this area? If not, consider performing any 

additional examination procedures deaned necessary.

9. Based onfoe information gathered, evaluate the internal controls in this area (le. 

strong, satisfactmy, feir, marginal, unsatisfactory).

in. Substantive Tests

1. Test the mathematical accuracy o f amount recorded in financial statements and 

disclosed in footnotes.
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2. Using an ai^n^niate sanq>ling technique, select guarantees issued from the trial

balance and;

a. Prqpare and mail confirmation forms to account parties and beneficiaries. 

Guarantees serviced by other institutions, either Wiole guarantees or syndicate 

participations, should be confirmed only with the servicing institution (or lead 

bank). Guarantees serviced for other institutions, either %èole guarantees or 

syndicate participations, should be confirmed with the buying institution and 

the account pat^ . Confirmation forms should include account party’s name, 

guarantee numbw, amount, fise charged, and a brief description o f any 

collateral or counter-guarantee held.

b. After a reasonable time, mail second requests.

c. Follow ou any no-rq>lies or exceptions and r ^ lv e  differences.

d. Examine written guarantee instruments for conqileteness and terms, and verify 

amount to  the trial balance.

e. Check to see that required initials o f the ^iproving ofBca* are on the 

guarantee instrument.

f. Check to see that the signature on the guarantee is authorized.

g. Conqiaie any collateral held with the description on the collateral register.

h. Determine that the proper assignments, agreements, etc., are on 

file.

i. Test the pricing of any n%otiable coUatmal held.

j. Determine that collateral margins are reasonable and in line with branch 

policy and l%al requirements.
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k. List all collateral discrepaiK»es and investigate.

1. Determine if any collateral is held by an outside custodian or has been 

temporally removed for any reason, 

m. Forward a confirmation request on any collateral held outside the branch, 

n. Determine that each file contains documentation supporting counter- 

guarantees, if  applicable, 

o. Review guarantee participation agreements for such items as fees charged the 

account party or remittance requirements and determine whether the account 

party has-complied, 

p. If the branch paid a beneficiary uiuler its guarantee, review disbursement 

ledgers and authorizations to determine whether payment was effected in 

accordance with the terms of the guarantee agreeneot and wdiether the branch 

was recompensed by the account party.

3. For guarantees issued in the selected review sample, check central liability file on 

borrowers indebted above the selected cutoff review line or boirower(s) 

displaying credit weakness or suspected o f having additional liability in loan 

areas.

4. Determine compliance with any applicable laws and r^ulations potaining to 

guarantees issued by performing the following steps:

a. Determine that the obligations covered by such guarantees or endorsements 

are shown ascontingent liabilities on the records and in the rqx)rts o f assets 

and liabilities of the branch and that such liabilities are included in computing 

the aggregate indebtedness o f the branch.
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b. Deteimi tte which, guarantees are subj«a: to individual loaa limitations to any 

one customs. Combine guarantees with any otha' «[tensions of «edit to the 

account part^ by the issuing branch subject to loan limitations.

5. Detennine if the trial balance contains expired guarantees. If so, detamine the 

branch’s pdicies, fnactices, and proce&nes for disposing these guarantees.

6. Review accounts o f off-btdance sheet related fees collected:

a. Review and. test procedures for accounting fer fees collected and for handling 

any adjustments.

b. Scan fees collected for any unusual entries and follow up on any unusual 

items by tracing them to initial and aippoiting records.

7. Update the worik-papers with any information that will facilitate future

examinations.
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APPENDIX B 

List of Acromyu»

AICPA -  American Institute o f  Cotified Public Accoumants

BCCI -  Bank o f Credit and Commerce International

CPA -  Cer^^fied Public Accountant

FAS -  Financial Accounting Standard

FBO -  F o r^ j^  Banking Organization

FBSEA -  Foreign Banks Supovision Enhancement Act

FDIC -  Federal Deposit Insurance Company

FDICIA -  Federal Depoat Insurance Cwporation Improvement Act

FRS -  Federal Reserve System

GAAP -  Grmeraliy Accq>ted Accounting Principles

GAAS -  Generally Accqrted Auditing Standards

EBA -  International Banking Act

ICC -  International Chamber of Commerce

OCC -  OfGce o f the Con^trollCT of the Currmcy

RO A -  Retpm on Assets

ROE -  Return on Equity

SAS -  Statqnents on Auditing Standards

SEC -  Securities and Exchange Commission

SFAC -  Statements of Financial Accounting Concepts

SOSA -  Strtmgth Of SuRwrt Assessment

UCC -  Uniformed Commercial Code
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT

The Supervisory Boerd of 
Deutsche Bank Aktiengeselischaft

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Deutsche Bank 
Aktiengeselischaft and subsidiaries (the "Company") as of December 31, 2003 and 2002, and 
the related consolidated statements of income, comprehensive income, changes in sharehold­
ers' equity, and cash flows for each of the years In the three-year period ended December 31, 
2003. These consolidated financial statements are the responsibility of the Company's 
management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial 
statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits In accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the 
United States of America. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to 
obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material 
misstatement An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence suM*orting the arnounts 
and disclosures In the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting 
principles used and significant estimates made by management as well as evaluating the 
overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis 
for our opinion.

in our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all 
material respects, the financial position of Deutsche Bank Aktiengeselischaft and subsidiaries 
as of December 31, 2003 and 2002, and the results of their operations and their cash flows for 
each of the years in the three-year period ended December 31. 2003, in conformity with 
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

As discussed in Note 2 to the consolidated financial statements, the Company adopted 
FASB Interpretation No. 46, "Consolidation of Variable interest Entities" and Statement of 
Financial Accounting Standards No. 150, "Accounting for Certain Instruments with Character­
istics of Both Liabilities and Equity" during 2003 and Statement of Financial Accounting 
Standards No. 142, "Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets" effective January 1, 2002.

KPMG Deutsche Treuhand-Gesellschaft 
Aktiengeselischaft Wirtschaftsprüfungsgeselischaft

Frankfurt am Main 
March 9, 2004

F-2
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DEUTSCHE BANK AKTIENGE8ELLSCHAFT

CONSOUDATED STAmWENT OF INCOME 
(€ In m illions, sx csp t par shara data)

Ymw #m d#d O M M iibar 31.

N e t in te re s t  re v e n u e s :
I n te rw t  r e v e n u e s .........
In te rae t e x p e n s e ...........

N e t in te re s t  re v e n u e s  . . .  
P rov ision  f o r  lo e n  lo sse s

N o n in te re s t re v e n u e s ;
C o m m iss io n s  e n d  l e e s  f ro m  fld u c ie iy  e c t iv t t ie e ..........................................................
C o m m is s io n s , b r o ia r 's  f e e s ,  m a ik u p s  o n  s e c u r i t ie s  undenm nM ng e n d  o th e r

sscurMee activities...............................................................................
F e e s  f o r  o t h w  c u s to m e r  s e r v i c e s ........................................................................................
In su re n c e  p r e m iu m s ...................................................................................................................
T rad ing  re v e n u e s , n e t .................................................................................................................
N e t g a in s  o n  se c u r i t ie s  e v e ila b ie  f o r  s e l e .........................................................................
N e t lo s s  f ro m  e q u ity  m e th o d  in v e s tm e r r ts .......................................................................
O th e r  r e v e n u e s ..............................................................................................................................

2003 2002 2001

€ 2 7 .5 8 3 € 3 5 .7 8 1 € 5 3 .8 3 9
21.736 » 3 9 5 4 5 3 1 9

€  5.847 €  7 .188 €  8 3 2 0
1.113 2.091 1,024

€  4 ,734 €  5.095 €  7 .598

3.273 3 .926 3.537

3 3 8 4 4 3 1 9 4 3 5 7
2,495 2.589 2.833

112 74 4 2.717
5.611 4 ,024 6.031

20 3 3 2 3 1 3 1 8
(422) (887) (365)
768 1.123 295

Total n o n in te re s t  r e v e n u e s .......................................................................................................................... €  15.421 €  19.361 €  20.921

N o n in a r e s t  e x p e n s e s :
C o m p e rrse tia n  a n d  b e n e f i ts .....................................................................................................................  10.495
N et o c c u p a n c y  e x p e n s e  o f  p r e m i s e s .................................................................................................. 1.251
F u rn itu re  a n d  e q u ip m e n t ..........................................................................................................................  193
IT c o s t s .............................................................................................................................................................  1.913
A g en cy  a n d  o th e r  p ro fae e io n r t  s e rv ic e  f e e s ..................................................................................  724
C o m m u n ica tio n  a n d  d a ta  s e r v i c e s ......................................................................................................  626
P oU cyholder b e n e f i ts  a n d  c la im s ..........................................................................................................  110
O th e r  e x p e n s e s .............................................................................................................................................. 2,002
G oodw ill I rh p a lrm e n t/e m o rtlz e tlo n ......................................................................................................  114
R e stru c tu rin g  a c t iv i t i e s ........................  (29)

Total n o n in te re s t  « ( p e n s e s .......................................................................................................................... €  17.399

Inco m e b e fo re  in c o m e  ta x  e x p e n s e  a n d  c u m u la tiv e  e ffe c t o f  a c c o u n tin g  c h a n g e s  —  2.756
In co m e ta x  e x p e n s e ..................................................................................................................................... 1.327
R eversa l o f  1999/2000 c re d its  f o r  ta x  r a te  c h a n g e s ..................................................................... 215

11.358
1.291

230
2.188

761
792
759

2.883
82

583

13.360
1.334

357
2.343
1.080

891
3.002
3,182

871
294

€ 2 0 .9 0 7  €  28.714

3,549
372

2.817

1,803
434
995

Incom e b e fo re  c u m u la tiv e  e ffe c t o f  a c c o u n tin g  c h a n g e s , n e t  o f  t a x ......................................  €  1.214 €  38 0  €  3 7 4

C u m u la tiv e  e ffe c t o f  a c c o u n tin g  c h a n g e s , n e t  o f  ta x 151 37 (207)

N et In c o m e ........................................................................................................................................................... €  1.385 €  3 9 7  € 167

E arn in g s  p e r  c o m m o n  sh a re :
Basic

In co m e b e fo re  eu m u la tiv a  e ffe c t o f  a c c o u n tin g  c h a n g e s ,  n e t  o f  t a x   ....................  €
C u m u la tiv e  e ffe c t o f  a c c o u n tin g  c h a n g e s ,  n e t  o f  t a x ................................................................

2.17
0.27

€  0 .5 8  
0 .08

€  0.60  
(0.33)

N et i n c o m e ......................................................................................................................................................  €  2 .44  €  0 .6 4  €  0 .27

D iluted
Inco m e b e fo re  c u m u la tiv e  e ffe c t o f  acco u rttin g  c h a n g e s ,  n e t  o f  t a x .................................  €  2.06
C u m u la tiv e  a ffe c t o f  ac c o u n tin g  c h a n g e s , n e t  o f  t a x ................................................................  0 .25

0.57
0.06

€  0.60 
(0.33)

N e t in c o m e ......................................................................................................................................................  € 0 .63  €  0.27

C ash  d iv id e n d s  d e c la re d  p e r  c o m m o n  s h a r e ....................................................................................... €

The 8C(%)mpanying notes ere an integral part of the Consolidated Financial Statements.

F-3
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DEUTSCHE BANK AKTIENGKELLSCHAFT

CONSOUDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
(€ in m illions)

31.
2003 2002

N e t in c o m e   €  1 .305 €  397

O th e r  c o m p re h e n e lv e  in c o m e  does):

R e v e rss l o f  1999/2000 c re d its  f o r  ta x  ra te  c h e n g e s ..............................................................................  21 5  2.817

U nreeH zed g e in s  d o s s e s )  o n  s e c u r i t ie s  a v e ila lile  f o r  s e t s  e n d  o th e r .

U nreelized  n e t  g e in s  ( lo sse s )  a r is in g  d u r in g  t h e  y e a r ,  n e t  o f  ta x  a n d  o th e r* " ........................  1 .819 (5.596)

N et reclassH lcaM on a rf lu s tm e n t f o r  re a liz e d  n e t  (g a in s)  loB ses, n e t  o f  a p p lic a b le  ta x  
a n d  o t h e r * ........................................................................................................................................................... 162 (3Æ27),

U nrealized  n e t  g a in s  ( lo sse s)  o n  d e r iv a tiv e s  h e d g in g  variab iiK y  o f  c a s h  flo w s, n e t  o f
t a x *   (4) 2

M in im u m  p e n s io n  llebilitv . n e t  o f  tax** ......................................................................................................  8  (8)
F ore ign  c u rre n c y  tra n sla tio n :

U nrealized  n e t  g e i r a  ( lo sse s)  a r is in g  d u r in g  th e  y e a r , n e t  o f  tax***  (938) (1.802)

N e t rec lass ifica tio n  a d |u s tm e n t  f o r  rea lized  n e t  g a in s , n e t  o f  t a x *   (54) —

Total o th e r  c o m p re h e n s iv e  In co m e  ( lo s s ) .................................................................................................. €  1 .010 €  (7.914)

C o m p re h e n s iv e  in c o m e  ( l o s s ) ........................................................................................................................ €  2 .375 €  (7.517)

2001

€  187

995

(2.498)

(1,423)

(1)

K

€ (2 .8 4 0 ) 

€  (2.873)

(1) A m o u n ts  a r e  n e t  o f  In co m e  ta x  e x p e n s e  (b en e fit)  o f  € 3 8  m illio n . €  (89) m illion  a n d  €  (105) m illion  fo r  th e  y e a rs  
e n d e d  O ecem tM r 3 1 .2 0 0 3 , 2 002  a n d  2001 . r e n a e t iv e ly ,  a n d  a tf iu e tm e n ts  t o  in s u ra n c e  p o licy h o ld e r  liab ilitie s an d  
debarred  ac q u is itio n  c o s ts  o f  €  4  m illio n . €  (230) m illion  a n d  €  (810) m illio n  f o r  t h e  y e a r s  e n d e d  D e c e m b e r  31.
2 0 0 3 .2 0 0 2  a n d  2001 . reep e rth re ly .

(2) A m o u n ts  a r e  n e t  o f  a p p lic a b le  In c o m e  ta x  e x p e n s e  o f  €  41 m illio n . C IS  m illio n  e n d  €  144 m illion  f o r  t h e  y e a rs  
e n ite d  D e c e m b e r  3 1 .2 0 0 3 . a n d  2001 . reepectlw ely . e n d  e c f iu a tm e n ts to  in su ra n c e  p o licy h o ld a r liab ilitie s a n d  
d e fo rred  ee q u M tio n  c o s ts  o f  €  (10) m illio n . €  110 m illio n  a n d  €  (44) m iilion  f o r  t h e  y e a r s  e n d e d  D e c e m b e r  31.
2 0 0 3 .2 0 0 2  a n d  2001 . raep ec tiv e iy .

(3) A m o u n t is  n e t  o f  a n  In co m e  t a x  b e n e f it  f o r  t h e  y e a r s  e n d e d  D e c e m b e r  3 1 . 2 003  a n d  2001 a n d  In co m e  t a x  e x p a n se  
fo r  th e  y e a r  e n d e d  D e c e m b e r  2002.

(4) A m ourrt Is met o f  In c o m e  t a x  e x p e n s e  o f  € 3  m illion  f o r  t h e  y e a r  e n d e d  D a c e m tw r 3 1 . 2003 a n d  a n  in c o m e  ta x  
b e n e f it o f  €  3  m illion  f b r  t h e  y e a r  e n d e d  D e c e m b e r  3 1 . M O Z

(5) A m o u n ts  a r e  n e t  o f  a n  In c o m e  ta x  e rg ie n se  (ben efit)  o f  €  7 0  m illio n . €  26  m illion  e n d  €  (41) m illion  fo r  t h e  y ea rs  
e n d e d  O e ce m tie r  31 . 2 0 (%  2002  a n d  ZD01. re sp ec tiv e ly .

(6) A m o u n t la n e t  o f  a n  In co m e  t a x  b e n e f it  o f  €  5  m illion  f o r  t h e  y e a r  e n d e d  D e c e m b e r  3 1 .2 0 0 3 .

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the Consolidated Financial Statements.
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DEUTSCHE BANK AKTIENGESELISCHAFT

CONSOUDATED BALANCE SHEET 
( €  i n  m i l l i o n s ,  e x c e p t  n o m i n a l  v a l u e )

D *eem b « r 31, 

2003  2002

A SSETS
C ash  a n d  d u e  f ro m  b a n k s ................................................................................................................................................  €  6 ,836  €  8 ,976
In ta rs a t-e a m ln g  d e p o s its  w ith  b a n k s ..........................................................................................................................  14 ,649 25,691
C en tra l b a n k  fu n d s  s o ld  a n d  se c u ritie s  p u rc h a s e d  u n d e r  re s a le  a g r e e m e n ts ........................................  112,419 117,689
S e c u ritie s  b o r r o w e d ...........................................................................................................................................................  72 ,796 37,569
T rad in g  a s s e t s  (o f w h ich  €  107 b illion  a n d  €  7 0  b illion  w e re  p le d g e d  t o  c re d ito rs  a n d  c a n  b e

s o ld  o r  re p le d g e d  a t  D e c e m b e r  31 , 2 0 0 3  a n d  2002 , r e s p e c t iv e ly )   345,371 294,679
S e c u r itie s  a v e n a b te  f o r  s e le  (o f  w h ic h  €  4 0 4  m illio n  a n d  €  7 3 8  m illio n  w e r e  p le d g e d  t o

c re d ito rs  a n d  c a n  b e  s o ld  o r  re p le d g e d  a t  D e c e m b e r  3 1 , 2 0 0 3  a n d  2002 , r e s p e c tiv e ly )   24,631 21,619
O th e r  in v e s tm e n ts ...............................................................................................................................................................  8 ,570  10,768
L o an s, n e t ................................................................................................................................................................................. 144 ,948 167,303
P re m ise s  a n d  e q u ip m e n t  n e t .........................   5 ,786 6 ,883
G o o d w ill ...................................................................................................................................................................................  6 ,735  6,372
O th e r  In tan g ib le  a s s e ts ,  n e t ............................................................................................................................................ 1,122 1,411
O th e r  a s s e ts  re la te d  to  In su ra n c e  b u s in e s s .............................................................................................................  8 ,249  7,797
D u e  f ro m  c u s to m e rs  o n  a c c e p ta n c e s ........................................................................................................................ 60  9 9
A ccru ed  in te re s t  la c e iv e b le ..............................................................................................................................................  3 ,612 4 ,208
P e n d in g  s e c u ritie s  tra n sa c tio n s  p a s t  s e t t le m e n t  d a t a .........................................................................................  11,082 5 .524
O th e r a s s e t s ..................................................................    36 ,950  37.764

T o ta l .......................................................................................................................................................................................  € 8 0 3 ,8 1 4  €  756,355

U A B U n E S
D e p o s i t s ................................................................................................................................................................................... €  306 ,154  €  327,625
T rad ing  l ia b i l i t ie s .................................................................................................................................................................  153 ,234 131,212
C en tra l b a n k  to n d s  p u rc h a se d  a n d  se c u r i t ie s  s o ld  u n d e r  r e p u rc h a s e  a g r e e m e n ts .............................  102,433 90,709
S e c u r itie s  l o a n e d .........................................   14,817 8,790
O th e r  sh o r t- te rm  b o r ro w in g s .........................................................................................................................................  22 ,290 11,573
A c c e p ta n c e s  o u ts ta n d in g ..................................................................................................................................................  60 99
In su ra n c e  po licy  c la im s  a n d  r e s e r v e s    9,071 8,557
A ccru ed  In te re s t  p a y a b le ..................................................................................................................................................  3 ,793  4,668
P e n d in g  se c u r i t ie s  tr a n s a c tio n s  p e s t  sa tH e m e n t d a t a .........................................................................................  10,390 4,611
O th e r  l ia b il i t ie s ...................................................................................................................................................................... 53 ,380 33,084
L o n g to rm  d e t i t   97 ,480  104,055
T rust p re fe rre d  s e c u r i t ie s ..................................................................................................................................................  —  3,103
O blig a tio n  to  p u rc h a se  c o m m o n  s h a r e s ...................................................................................................................  2 ,310  278

Total l ia b llitte s ...............................................................................................................................................................  €  775 ,412  €  728,364

C o m m itm e n ts  a n d  c o n tin g e n t  liab ilitie s (N o tes  1 1 ,3 1  a n d  35)
SHAREHOLDERS'EOUTTY
C o m m o n  sh a re s , n o  p a r  v a lu e , n o m in a l v a lu e  o f  €  2 .5 6   1,490 1 3 9 2
Issu ed : 2003. 581 .9  m illion  sh a re s ;

2002, 621.9  m illion  s h a re s
A d d itk m el pa id -in  c a i ^ l   11,147 11,199
R e ta in e d  e a r n i n g s   20 ,486 22,087
C o m m o n  s h a r e s  in  tr e a su ry , a t  c o s t . ..........................................................................................................................  (971) (1,960)

2003, 16.8 m illion  sh a re s ;
2002, 3 6 .4  m illion  s h a re s

E quity  d a s r i f ie d  a s  o b lig a tio n  to  p u rc h a se  c o m m o n  s h a r e s .........................................................................  (2 3 1 0 )  (278)
S h a re  a w a r d s   954  955
A ccu m u la ted  o th e r  c o m p re h e n s iv e  in c o m e  (loss):

D eferred  ta x  on  u n rea lized  n e t  g a in s  o n  se c u r i t ie s  a v a ila b le  f o r  s a le  re la tin g  to  1999  a n d
2000  ta x  r a te  c h a n g e s  in  G e rm a n y ...................................................................................................................... 12328) (3,043)

U nrealized  n e t  g a in s  o n  se c u r i t ie s  availat>te fo r  s a le , n e t  o f  a p p lic a b le  ta x  a n d  o t h e r   1,937 156
U nrea lized  n e t  g a in s  ( lo sse s )  o n  d e r iv a tiv e s  h e d g in g  v ariab ility  o f  c a s h  flo w s, n e t  o f  t a x   (3) 1
M in im um  p e n s io n  liability , n e t  o f  t a x   —  (8)
F ore ig n  c u rre n c y  tra n s la t io n , n e t  o f  t a x ............................................................................................................... (1,700) (710)

Total a c c u m u la te d  o th e r  c o m p re h e n s iv e  l o s s ..................................................................................................  €  (2 3 9 4 ) €  (3,604)

T otal s h a r e h o ld e r s 'e q u i ty .........................................................................................................................................  €  2 8 3 0 2  €  2 9 3 9 1

T o ta l .....................................................................................................................................................................................  €  803 ,614  €  7 5 8 3 5 5

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the Consolidated Financial Statements.
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DEUTSCHE BANK AKTIENGESELLSCHAFr
CONSOUDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN SHAREHOU>ERS* EQUITY

(C In m illions)
«idM i D ae«nb«r31,

2003 ÔëÔi 2001

C o m m o n  sh a ro K
B alanco, b o g in n jn g  o f  y a a r .....................................................................................................................  €  1 3 9 2  €  1,591 €  1 3 7 8
C o m m o n  s h a ra a  d is tr ib u te d  u n d e r  e m p lo y e e  b e n e f it  p l a n a   —  1 13
R e tirem en t o f  c o m m o n  s h a r a a ...............................................................................................................  (102) —  —

B alance, a n d  o f  y e a r ..............................................................................................................................  €  1,490 €  1,592 €  1 3 9 1

A dd itional paid -in  cap ita l:
B a lance, b e g in n in g  o f  y e a r .....................................................................................................................  € 1 1 ,1 9 9  € 1 1 ,2 5 3  € 1 0 ,8 7 6
C o m m o n  s h a re s  d is tr ib u te d  u n d e r  e m p lo y e e  b e n e f it  p l a n s   —  21 . 482
N e t lo s s e s  o n  t r e a s u ry  s h a re s  s o l d ......................................................................................................  (38) (129) (85)
O th e r .................................................................................................................................................................... (18) 5 4  —

B alance, e n d  o f  y e a r ..............................................................................................................................  €  11,147 €  11,199 €  11.253

R e ta in e d  ea rn in g s :
B a lance , b e g in n in g  o f  y e a r .....................................................................................................................  €  22,087 €  22 ,619  €  2 3 3 3 1
N e t In c o m e   1 3 8 5  3 9 7  187
C ash  d iv id en d a  d e c la re d  a n d  p a i d ......................................................................................................  (758) (800) (801)
N e t loaaaa  o n  t r e a s u ry  s h a r e s  s o l d ......................................................................................................  (388) —  —
R e tirem en t o f  c o m m o n  s h a r e s ............................................................................................................... (1,801) —  —
O th e r ...................................................................................................................................................................  (23) (129) (78)

B alance, e n d  o f  y e a r ..............................................................................................................................  €  20,486 €  22 ,087  €  22.819

C o m m on  s h a re s  in  t re a su ry , a t  co s t:
B a lance , b eg in n in g  o f  y e a r ...................................................................................   € ( 1 ,9 6 0 )  €  (479) €  (119)
P u rc h a se s  o f  s h a r e s .....................................................................................................................................  (25,484) (30,755) (37,032)
S a le  o f  s h w e s ................................................................................................................................................ 2 3 3 0 3  28,441 36,090
R e tirem en t o f  s h a r e s   1 3 0 3  —  —
T reasu ry  s h a re s  d is tr ib u te d  u n d e r  e m p lo y e e  b e n e f i t  p l a n s   847 83 3  582

B alance, M d  o f  y e a r ..............................................................................................................................  €  (971) €  (1 3 8 0 )  €  <A79)
E quity  c la ss if ied  a s  o b lig a tio n  to  p u rc h a s e  c o m m o n  sh a re s :

B a lance , b e g in n in g  o f  y e a r .....................................................................................................................  €  (278) €  —  €  —
A d d itio n s ........................................................................................................................................................... (2 3 1 1 ) (330) —
D e d u c t io n s .............................................................................................................................................................. 879  52  —

B alance, e n d  o f  y e a r .............................................................................................................................. €  (2 3 1 0 ) €  (278) €  —

S h a re  a w a rd s— c o m m o n  s h a re s  is su a b le :
B a lance, b e g in n in g  o f  y e a r .....................................................................................................................  €  1 3 5 5  €  1,666 €  1,883
D eferred  s h a re  a w a rd s  g r a n te d , n e t ...........................................................................................................  888 1,098 487
D eferred  s h a r e s  d is t r ib u te d ............................................................................................................................  (847) (809) (704)

B alance, e n d  o f  y e a r   €  2,196 €  1,955 €  1,888

S h a re  a w a rd s—d e fe r re d  c o m p e n s a tio n :
B alance, b e g in n in g  o f  y e a r .....................................................................................................................  €  (1,000) €  (787) €  (1.016)
D eferred  s h a re  a w a rd s  g ra n te d , n e t ...................................................................................................  (888) (1,098) (487)
A m o rtiz ad o n  o f  d e f e r re d  c o m p e n s a tio n , n e t   846 8 8 5  736

B alance, e n d  o f  y e a r   €  (1 3 4 2 ) €  (1,000) €  (787)

A ccu m u la ted  o th e r  c o m p re h e n s iv e  in c o m e  (loss):
B a lance , b e g in n in g  o f  y e a r .....................................................................................................................  €  (3,604) €  4 3 1 0  €  7,150
R eversa l o f  1 9 9 M 0 0 0  c re d its  f o r  ta x  ra te  c h a n g e s   215 2 ,817 995
C h a n g e  In u n rea lized  n e t  g a in s  o n  se c u r i t ie s  av a ilab le  fb r  s a le , n e t  o f  a p p licab le

ta x  a n d  o t f t e r   1,781 (9,123) (3 3 1 9 )
C h a n g e  in u n re a liz e d  n e t  g a ln s /to a s e s  o n  d e riv a tiv e s  h e d g in g  v a riab ility  o f  c a sh

flow s, n e t  o f  t a x   (4) 2 (i)
C h a n g e  in m in im u m  p e n s io n  liability , n e t  o f t a x   8  (8) —
fo re ig n  c u r re n c y  tra n s la t io n , n e t  o f  ta x  ..........................................................................................  (990) (13()2) 85

B alance, e n d  o f y e a r   €  (2,594) €  (3,604) €  4 3 1 0

Total sh a re h o ld e r s ' eq u ity , e n d  o f  y e a r   €  28,202 €  2 9 3 9 1  €  40 ,193

T h e  a c c o m p a n y i n g  n o t e s  a r e  a n  i n t e g r a l  p a r t  o f  t h e  C o n s o l i d a t e d  F i n a n c i a l  S t a t e m e n t s .
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DEUTSCHE BANK AKT1EN6ESELLSCHAFT

CONSOUDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 
(€ in m illions)

Vmt «uhM  December 31, 
2003 2002 2001

Cesh flows from operatina eoflvWes:
Net incom e..............................................................................................................................................  € 1.385 € 397 € 187
Adjustments to  teooncRe net bwome to net cash used in opeisting activities;

Provision for loan io sse s  1.113 2.091 1,024
Restructuring activities............................................................................................................................... (29) 583 294
Gain on eaie of securities avaReble (or tale, other invastmems. loans end other..................................  (201) (4328) (Z808)
Deferred income taxes, n e t.......................................................................................................................  289 Z480 (159)
Impairment, depredation end other amortization and accretion  3.072 ZB45 4.886
Cumulative affect of accounting changes, net of tax ...........................................................................  (151) (37). 207
Share of net loss (Income) from equfty method Inveetments.................................................................... (42) 753 , 278

Net change in:
Trading eeeots.................................................................   (37324) (4,071) (1Z63)
Other asse ts.........................................................................................................................................  (7.452) 8.827 (9.870)
Trading BabiMes..................................................................................................................................  2Z719 11.412 (3.022)
Other «sUNties  8.095 (20339) (4.559)
Other, net.....................................................................................................................................................  47 (298) 1.412

Net cesh used in operating activities...............................................................................................  € (8319) € (783) €(13311)
Cash flows from Investing aotivifles:

Net change in;
Inteiaat-earnbig deposits with banks  11.305 7300 9332
Central bank hinds sold end securities purchased under rasato agreem ents  5.378 (14.004 (47.9591
Securities borrowed.............................................................................................................................  (35328) Z749 33.138
L oans  12.789 9.634 5.802

Proceeds from:
Sale of securfties eveilabie for sale  1Z82D 25.835 41.128
Maturities of securities available for s a le   7311 7.731 2.746
Sale of other investm ents    2.088 5.089 7.096
Sale of loans  18.703 9.508 18.185
Sale of premises and equbiment  Z828 717 1.015

Purchase of:
Securities sws9able for sale.................................................................................................................. (19342) (2Z464) (34389)
Other bivastments................................................................................................................................. (Z14D (4,474) (7376)
L oans...................................................................................................................................................  (9.030) (Z364I (8.903)
Premises and equipm ent..................................................................................................................... (991) (1.898) (3.889)

Nat cesh received (paid) for business eombinations/divastituras  Z409 (1.110) 924
Other, nm  327 687 K 8

Nat oash provided by Ipvesdng activities......................................................................................... € 7.488 € 23.638 € 15.406
Cash flows from flnandng activities:

Net change in:
Deposits................................................................................................................................................  121.423) (41.278) 22,548
Securities loaned and central bank funds purchased and securities sold under repurchase

agreaments  17.751 7.603 (16.096)
Other short-term borrowings..............................................................................................................  (4303) 274 (15,151)

Issuences of long-term debt end trust praferred ascurities........................................................................  43,191 40345 32.958
Rapevments end extinguishments of long-term debt and trust preferred securides...............................  (32366) (27301) (22384)
Issuanoee of common shares   — 73 320
Pumheses of traesurv sh ares.................................................................................................................. (25.464) (30.7K) (37.032)
Sale of treasury shares  23389 28,685 36.024
Cash rflvldenda paid................................................................................................................................. (756) (800) (801)
Other, net.................................................................................................................................................  137) (455) (522)

Net cesh used In finanoing activities  € (18) €(23.629) € (638)
Net effect of exchange rate ofianges on cash and due from banks  (974) (835) 325
Nat Increase (decrease) in cash and due from banks  € (2343) € (1.409) € 1.886
Cash and due from banks, beginning of the year  8.979 10388 6.502
Cash and due from banks, end of the year................................................................................................. € 8.638 € 8.979 € 10388

Interest p a id ................................................................................................................................................ € 22.812 € 31349 €48399

Income taxes psIcL n e t  € 911 € 408 € 1351

Noncash irrvesting activities:
Transfer from avaiiable for sale securities to trading assets...........................................................  g — € — € 22.101

Transfer from trading assets to evaliafale for sale securities...........................................................  € — € — € 14336

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the Consolidated Financial Statements.
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DEUTSCHE BANK AKTIENGESELLSCHAfT
NOTES TO THE CONSOUDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Nota 1—Significant A ccounting P olicies

Deutsche Bank Mctiengesellschaft ("Deutsche Bank" or the "Parent") is a stock corpora­
tion organized under the laws of the Federal Republic of Germany. Deutsche Bank together 
with all entides in which Deutsche Bank has a controlling financial interest (the "Group") is a 
global provider of a full range of corporate and Investment banking, private clients and asset 
management products and services. For a discussion of the Group's business segment 
information, see Note 28.

The accompanying consolidated financial statements are stated in Euros and have been 
prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of 
America ("U.S. GAAP"). The preparation of financial statements in conformity with U.§. GAAP 
requires management to m ate estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of 
assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the balance sheet 
date, and the reported amounts of revenue and expenses during the reporting period. Actual 
results could diffisr from management's estimates. Certain prior period amounts have been 
reclassified to conform to the current presentation.

The following is a description of the significant accounting policies of the Group.

Prlneiplms o f (UmmoHdmtion
The consolidated financial statements include Deutsche Bank together with all entities in 

which Deutsche Bank has a controlling financial interest. The Group consolidates entities in 
which it has a majority voting interest when the entity is controlled through substantive 
voting equity interests and the equity investors bear the residual economic risks of the entity. 
The Group consolidates those entities that do not meet these criteria when the Group absorbs 
a majority of the entity's expected losses, or if no party at»sorbs a majority of the expected 
losses, when the Group receives a majority of the entity's expected residual returns.

Notwithstanding the above, certain securitization vehiclœ (commonly known as qualifying 
special purpose entities) are not consolidated if they are distinct from and not controlled by 
the entities that transferred the assets Into the vehicle, and their activities are legally 
prescribed, significantly limited fixHP inception, and meet certain restrictions regarding the 
assets they can hold and the circumstances in which those assets can be sold.

For consolidated guaranteed value mutual funds, in which the Group has only minor 
equity interests, the obligation to pass the net revenues of these funds to the investors is 
reported in other liabilities, with a corresponding charge to other revenues.

Prior to January 1, 2003, the Group consolidated all majority-owned subsidiaries as well 
as special purpose entities that the Group was deemed to control or from which the Group 
retained the majority of the risks and rewards. Qualifying special purpose entities were not 
consolidated.

All material intercompany transactions and balances have been eliminated. Issuances of a 
subsidiary's stock to third parties are treated as capital transactions.

ffeveniM  RoeogiM loa
Revenue is recognized when it is realized or realizable, and earned. This concept is 

applied to the key revenue generating activities of the Group as follows;

Nat interest revenues—Interest from interest-bearing assets and liabilities is recognized on 
an accrual basis over the life of the asset or liability based on the constant effective yield 
reflected in the terms of the contract and any related net deferred fees, premiums, discounts
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DEUTSCHE BANK AK11ENGESEIJLSCHAFT

NOTES TO THE CONSOUDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

or debt issuance costs. See the "Loans ' section of this footnote for more specific information 
regarding interest from loans receivable.

Valuation of assets and liabilities—Cetxaln assets and liabilities are required to be revalued 
each period end and the offset to the change in the carrying amount is recognized as revenue. 
These include assets and liabilities held for trading purposes, certain derivatives held for 
nontrading purposes, loans held for sale, and investments accounted for under the equity 
method. In addition, assets are revalued to recognize impairment losses within revenues when 
certain criteria are m et See the discussions in the 'Trading Assets and Liabilities, and 
Securities Available for Sale," "Derivatives," "Other Investments," "Allowances fbr Credit 
Losses," and "Impairment" sections of this footnote fbr more detailed explanations of foe 
valuation methods used and the methods for determining impairment losses for the vaiious 
types of assets involved.

Fees and comm/ss/ons—Revenue from the various services the Group performs are 
recognized when the following criteria are met: persuasive evidence of an arrangement œdsts, 
the services have been rendered, the fee or commission is fixed or determinable, and 
collectability is reasonably assured. Incentive fee revenues from investment advisory services 
are recognized at foe end of the contract period when foe incentive contingencies have been 
resolved.

Salas of assets—Gains and losses from sales of assets result primarily from sales of 
financial assets in monetary axchanges, which include sales of trading assets, securities 
available for sale, other investments, and loans. In addition, the Group records revenue from 
sales of rton-financial assets such as real wfote, subsidiaries and other assets.

To foe «(tent assets are exchanged for beneficial or ownership interests in those same 
assets, foe exchange is not conWdered a sale and no gain or loss Is recorded. Otherwise, 
gains and losses on exchanges of financial assets that are held at fair value, and gains on 
financial assets not held at fair value, are recorded when foe Group has surrendered control 
of those financial assets. Gains on exchanges of non-financial assets are recorded once foe 
sale has been closed or consummated, except when the Group maintains certain types of 
continuing involvement with the asset sold, in which case the gains are deferred. Losses from 
sales of non-financial assets and financial assets not held at foir value are recognized once the 
asset Is deemed held for sale.

Gains and losses from monetary «(changes are calculated as the difference between the 
book value of foe assets given up and foe fair value of the proceeds received and liabilities 
incurred Gains or losses from nonmonetary exchanges are calculated as foe difference 
between foe tx>ok value of foe assets given up and the foir value of the assets given up and 
liabilities incurred as part of the transaction, except that the fair value of foe assets received is 
used if it is more reatfily determinable.

For^gn Cum ney Ttenalation
Assets and liabilities denominated in currencies other than an entity's functional currency 

are translated into its functional currency using the period-end exchange rates, and the 
resulting transaction gains and losses are reported in trading revenues. Foreign currency 
revenues, expenses, gains, and losses are recorded at the exchange rate at the dates 
recognized.

Gains and losses resulting from translating the financial statements of net investments in 
foreign operations into the reporting currency of foe parent entity are r^orted, net of any 
hedge and tax effocts, in accumulated other comprehensive income within shareholders'
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equity. Revenues and expenises are translated at the weighted-average rate during the year 
whereas assets end liabilities are translated at the period end rate.

Reverse Rmpurchmsm mnd Rmpurchaam  A greem ents

Securities purchased under resale agreements ("reverse repurchase agreements") and 
securities sold under agreements to repurchase ("repurchase agreements") are treated as 
collateralized firuincings and are carried at the amount of cash disbursed and received, 
respectively. The party disbursing the cash takes possession of the securities serving as 
collateral for the financing. Securities purchased under resale agreements consist primarily of 
OECD country sovereign bonds or sovereign guaranteed bonds. Securities owned and 
pledged as collateral under repurchase agreements in which the counterparty has the right by 
contract or custom to sell or repledge the collateral are disclosed on the Consolidated Balance 
Sheet.

The Group monitors the feir value of the securities received or delivered. For securities 
purchased under resale agreements, tire Group requests additional securities or the return of 
a portion of the cash disbursed when appropriate in response to a decline in the market value 
of the securities received. Similarly, the return of excess securities or additional cash is 
requested when appropriate in response to an increase in the market value of securities sold 
under repurchase agreements. The Group offsets reverse repurchase and repurchase 
agreements with the same counferparty under master netting agreements when they have the 
same maturity date and meet certain other criteria regarding settlement aiKl transfer 
mechanisms Interest earned on reverse repurchase agreements and interest Incurred on 
repurchase agreements are reported as interest revenues and interest expense, respectively.

SecuriWee B om nttad  a n d  S^curitim a L oaned

Securities borrowed and securities loaned are recorded at the amount of cash advanced 
or received. Securities borrowed transactions generally require the Group to deposit cash with 
the securities lender. In a securities loaned transaction, the Group generally receives either 
cash collateral, in an amount equal to or in excess of the market value of securities loaned, or 
securities. If the securities received may be sold or repledged, they are accounted for as 
trading assets and a corresponding liability to return the security is recorded. The Group 
monitors the feir value of securities borrowed and securities loaned and additional collateral 
is obtained, if necessary. Fees received or paid are reported in interest revenues and interest 
expense, respectively. Securities owned and pledged as collateral under securities lending 
agreements in which the counterparty has the right by contract or custom to sell or repledge 
the collateral are disclosed on the Consolidated Balance Sheet.

TraiBttg A saata  m nd UmblUtIm», mnd Sm euildm a A vm tlab^ forSmÊm

The Group designates debt and marketable equity securities as either held for trading 
purposes or available for sale at the date of acquisition.

Trading assets and trading liabilities are carried at their feir values and related realized 
and unrealized gains and losses are included in trading revenues.

Securities available fbr sale are carried at feir value with the changes in feir value 
reported in accumulated other comprehensive income within shareholders' equity unless the 
security is subject to a fair value hedge. In which case changes in feir value resulting from the 
risk being hedged are recorded in other revenues. The amounts reported in other 
comprehensive income are net of deferred income taxes and adjustments to insurance 
policyholder liabilities and deferred acquisition costs.
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Declines in fair value of securities available for sale belovtr their amortized cost that are 
deemed to be other than temporary and realized gains and losses are reported in tiie 
Consolidated Statement of Income in net gains on securities available fbr sale. The 
amortization of premiums and accretion of discounts are recorded in interest revenues. 
Generally, the weighted-average cost method is used to determine the cost of securities sold.

Fair value is based on quoted market prices, price quotes from brokers or dealers, or 
estimates based upon discounted expected cash flows.

O e rfv e tfv e s

All freestanding contracts that are considered derivatives fbr accounting purposes are 
carried at fair value in the balance sheet regardless of whether they are held fbr trading or 
nontrading purposes. Derivative features embedded in other contracts that meet certain 
criteria are also measured at feir value. Fair values fbr derivatives are based on quoted market 
prices, discounted cash flow analy»s, comparison to similar observable market transactions, 
or pricing models that take into account current market and contractual prices of the 
underlying instruments as well as time value and yield curve or volatility fectors underlying 
the positions. Fair values also take into account ejqiected market risks, modeling risks, 
administrative costs and credit considerations. Derivative assets and liabilities arising from 
contracts with the same counterparty that are covered by qualifying and legally enfbrceable 
master netting agreements are reported on a net basis.

The Group enters into various contract fbr trading purposes, including swaps, futures 
contracts, forward commitments, options and other similar types of contracts and commit­
ments based on interest and foreign exchange rates, equity and commodity prices, and credit 
risk. The Group also makes commitments to originate mortgage loans that will be held for 
sale. Such positions are considered derivatives and are carried at their feir values as either 
trading assets or trading liabilities, and related gains and losses are included in trading 
revenues.

Derivative features embedded in other nontrading contracts are measured separately at 
feir value when they are not clearly and closely related to the host contract and meet the 
definition of a derivative. Unless designated as a hedge, changes in the feir value of such an 
embedded derivative are reported in trading revenues. The carrying amount is reported on 
the Consolidated Balance Sheet with the host contract.

Certain derivatives entered into fbr nontrading purposes, not qualifying for hedge 
accounting, that are otherwise effective in offsetting the effect of transactions on noninterest 
revenues and expenses are recorded in other assets or other liabilities with changes in feir 
value recorded in the same noninterest revenues and expense captions affected by the 
transaction being offeeL The changes in feir value of all other derivatives not qualifying for 
hedge accounting are recorded in trading revenues.

For accounting purposes there are three possible types of hedges, each of which is 
accounted for differently: (1) hedges of the changes in fbir value of assets, liabilities or firm 
commitments (feir value hedges), (2) hedges of the variability of future cash flows from 
forecasted transactions and floating rata assets and liabilities (cash flow hedges), and 
(3) hedges of the translation adjustments resulting from translating the financial statements of 
net investments in foreign operations into the reporting currency of the parent Hedge 
accounting, as described in the following paragraphs, is applied fbr each of these types of 
hedges, if the hedge is properly documented at inception and the hedge is highly effective in 
offsetting changes in feir value, variability of cash flows, or the translation effects of net 
investments in fbreign operations.
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For hedges of change in fair value, the changes in the M r value of the hedged asset or 
liability due to the risk being hedged are recognized in earnings along with changes in the 
entire fair value of the derivative. When hedging interest rate risk, for both the derivative and 
the hedged item any interest accrued or paid is reported in interest revenue or expense and 
the unrealized gains and losses from the M r value adjustments are reported in other 
revenues. When hedging the foreign exchange risk in an available-for-sale security, the Mr 
value adjustments related to the foreign exchange exposures are also recorded in other 
revenues. Hedge ineffectiveness is reported in other revenues and is measured as the net 
effect of the fair value adjustments made to the derivative and the hedged item arising from 
changes in the market rate or price related to the risk being hedged.

If a hedge of changes in fair value is canceled because the derivative is terminated or de­
designated, any remaining interest rate-related fair value adjustment made to the carrying 
amount of a hedged debt Instrument is amortized to interest revenue or expense over the 
remaining life of the hedged item. For other types of fair value adjustments or whenever the 
hedged asset or liability is sold or terminated, any basis adjustments are included in the 
calculation of the gain or loss on sale or termination.

For hedges of the variability of cash flows, there is no special accounting for the hedged 
Item and the derivarive is carried at foir value with changes in value reported initially in other 
comprehensive income to the extent the hedge is effective. These amounts initially recorded 
in other comprehensive Income are subsequently reclassified into earnings in the same 
periods during which the forecasted transaction affects earnings. Thus, for hedges of interest 
rate r i^  the amounts are amortized into interest revenues or expense along with the interest 
accruals on the hedged transacrion. When hedging the foreign exchange risk in an available- 
for-sale security, the amounts resulting from foreign exchange risk are included in the 
calculation of the gain or loss on sale once the hedged security is sold. Hedge ineffectiveness 
is recorded in other revenues and is usually measured as the difference between the changes 
in fair value of the actual hedging derivative and a hypothetically perfect hedge.

When hedges of the variability of cash flows due to interest rate risk are canceled, 
amounts remaining in accumulated other comprehensive income are amortized to interest 
revenues or expense over the original life of the hedge. For cancellations of other types of 
hedges of the variability of cash flows, the related amounts accumulated in other 
comprehensive income are reclassified into earnings either in the same income statement 
caption and period as the forecasted transaction, or in other revenues when it is no longer 
probable that the forecasted transaction will occur.

For hedges of the translation adjustments resulting from translating the financial 
statements of net investments in foreign operations into the reporting currency of the parent, 
the portion of the change in foir value of the derivative due to changes in the spot foreign 
exchange rate is recorded as a foreign currency translation adjustment in other comprehen­
sive income to the extent the hedge is effective; and the remainder is recorded as other 
revenues.

Any derivative de-designated as a hedging derivative is transferred to trading assets and 
liabilities and marked to market with changes in foir value recognized in trading revenues. For 
any hedging derivative that is terminated, the difference between the derivative's carrying 
amount and the cash paid or received is recognized as other revenues.

O ther Investm ents

Other investments include investments accounted for under the equity method, holdings 
of designated consolidated investment companies, and other nonmarketable equity interests 
and investments In venture capital companies.
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